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THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON
BANKING, TRADE AND COMMERCE

The Honourable Salter A. Hayden, Chairman

The Honourable Senators:

Aird Croll Lang
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ORDER OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Thursday,
February 27th, 1969:

“Pursuant to the Order of the Day, the Senate resumed the debate
on the motion of the Honourable Senator Everett, seconded by the
Honourable Senator Sparrow, for the second reading of the Bill S-29,
intituled: An Act respecting the production and conservation of oil and
gas in the Yukon Territory and the Northwest Territories”.

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.

The Bill was then read the second time.

The Honourable Senator Langlois moved, seconded by the Hon-
ourable Senator McDonald, that the Bill be referred to the Standing
Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and Commerce.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

ROBERT FORTIER,
Clerk of the Senate.

25—3
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

WEDNESDAY, March 12th, 1969.
(27)

At 10.20 a.m. this day the Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade
and Commerce met to resume consideration of Bill S-29, “An Act respecting
the production and conservation of oil and gas in the Yukon Territory and the
Northwest Territories”.

Present: The Honourable Senators Hayden (Chairman), Beaubien, Burchill,
Carter, Connolly (Ottawa West), Cook, Croll, Desruisseaux, Inman, Isnor,
Kinley, Lang, Macnaughton and Thorvaldson. (14)

Present, but not of the Committee: The Honourable Senators Grosart, Hays,
McLean, Phillips (Rigaud) and Prowse. (5)

In attendance: E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary Counsel.

The following witnesses were heard:

Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development:

A. D. Hunt, Director, Resources and Economic Development Group.
Dr. H. W. Woodward, Chief, Oil and Mineral Division, Development
Group.

Amendments:
Clauses 12, 13, 21, 25, 26, 27, 40 and 41, inclusive, were amended.

Note: The full text of the amendments appears by reference to the Report of
the Committee immediately following these Minutes.

Upon motion, it was Resolved to report the said Bill as amended.
ATTEST:

Frank A. Jackson,
Clerk of the Committee.
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REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY, March 12th, 1969.

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and Commerce to
which was referred the Bill S-29, intituled: “An Act respecting the production
and conservation of oil and gas in the Yukon Territory and the Northwest
Territories”, has in obedience to the order of reference of February 27th, 1969,
examined the said Bill and now reports the same with the following amend-
ments:

1. Page 6: Strike out lines 36 to 41, both inclusive, and substitute therefor
the following:

“12. The Governor in Council may make regulations respecting the
exploration and drilling for and the production and conservation, pro-
cessing and transportation of oil and gas and, in particular, but without
restricting the generality of the foregoing, may make regulations”.

2. Page 9: Strike out lines 14 to 21, both inclusive, and substitute therefor
the following:

“(b) the locating, spacing or drilling of a well within a field or pool
or within part of a field or pool or the operating of any well that, having
regard to sound engineering and economic principles, results or tends to
result in a reduction in the quantity of oil or gas ultimately recoverable
from a pool;”.

3. Page 15, line 1: Strike out “two” and substitute therefor “one”.

4. Page 19: Strike out clause 25 and substitute therefor the following:

“25. (1) No person shall produce any oil or gas within a spacing
unit in which there are two or more leases or two or more separately
owned working interests unless a pooling agreement has been entered
into in accordance with section 21 or in accordance with a pooling order
made under section 22.

(2) Subsection (1) does not prohibit the production of oil for testing
in any quantities approved by the Chief Conservation Officer.”.

5. Page 19, line 14: Strike out “two” and substitute therefor ‘“‘one”.

6. Page 20: Strike out clause 27 and substitute therefor the follov;ing:

“27. (1) Notwithstanding anything in this Act, where, in the
opinion of the Chief Conservation Officer, the unit operation of a pool or
part thereof would prevent waste, he may apply to the Committee for
an order requiring the working interest owners in the pool or part
thereof to enter into a unit agreement and a unit operating agreement
in respect of the pool or part thereof, as the case may be.

(2) Where an application is made by the Chief Conservation Officer
pursuant to subsection (1), the Committee shall hold a hearing at which
all interested persons shall be afforded an opportunity to be heard.

25—7



(3) If, after the hearing mentioned in subsection (2), the Committee
is of opinion that unit operation of a pool or part thereof would prevent
waste, the Committee may by order require the working interest owners
in the pool or part thereof to enter into a unit agreement and a unit
operating agreement in respect of the pool or part thereof.

(4) If in the time specified in the order referred to in subsection (3),
being not less than six months from the date of the making of the order,
the working interest owners and royalty owners fail to enter into a unit
agreement and a unit operating agreement approved by the Committee,
all drilling and producing operations within the pool or part thereof in
respect of which the order was given shall cease until such time as a
unit agreement and a unit operating agreement have been approved by
the Committee and filed with the Chief Conservation Officer.

(5) Notwithstanding subsection (4), the Committee may permit the
continued operation of the pool or part thereof after the time specified
in the order referred to in subsection (3) if it is of opinion that a unit
agreement and unit operating agreement are in the course of being
entered into, but any such continuation of operations shall be subject
to any conditions prescribed by the Committee.”.

7. Page 28: Strike out lines 21 and 22 and substitute therefor the following:
“and, subject to section 41, is binding upon the Committee and
upon all parties.”.

8. Page 29: Immediately after line 2, add as new subclause (5) of clause 41,
the following:

“(5) Any order made by the Committee pursuant to subsection (4),
unless such order has already been dealt with by the Governor in Council
pursuant to section 40, shall be subject to that section.”.

All which is respecfully submitted.
SALTER A. HAYDEN,

Chairman.

25—8



THE STANDING SENATE
COMMITTEE ON BANKING, TRADE AND COMMERCE
EVIDENCE

Ottawa, Wednesday, March 12, 1969

The Senate Committee on Banking, Trade
and Commerce, to which was referred Bill
S-29, respecting Yukon and N.W.T. Gas and
Qil Conservation and Production Act, met
this day at 10.30 a.m. to give further consider-
ation to the bill.

Senator Salter A. Hayden (Chairman) in the
Chair.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, we
have with us from the Department of Indian
Affairs and Northern Development Mr. A. D.
Hunt, Director of Resource and Economic
Development Group, and Dr. H. W. Wood-
ward, Oil and Gas Administrator.

You may remember that last week when
we were considering this bill we heard from
the representatives of the Canadian
Petroleum Association. Mr. Lewis was the
spokesman at that time. Generally, they
expressed agreement and said that this par-
ticular kind of legislation was needed
immediately for the Yukon and the Northwest
Territories. They raised some point where
they suggested there should be amendments
to clarify the intent of the bill.

Following on that, we met with the depart-
mental officers who were charged with the
administration of this act when it comes into
force and we also had the benefit of the opin-
ion of the director of legislation in the
Department of Justice.

Arising out of that, we have agreed on a
number of amendments which are in line
with what Mr. Lewis suggested and which are
approved of by the department. There may
be one or two additional points which I raised
the other day, but we will come to those after
we consider the present ones.

Mr. Hunt, we did not have the benefit of
any expression of views, on the last occasion,
from your department. We had several silent
observers. Would you care to give some
explanation of the purposes of this bill?

Mr. A. D. Huni, Director, Resource and
Economic Development Group, Department of
Indian Affairs and Northern Development:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Honourable sena-
tors, this bill if I might classify it, is a rea-
sonably standard approach to the orderly con-
trol and administration of oil and gas produc-
tion. The concepts and the ideas behind it
really rest on many years of experience
gained on this continent and particularly in
the western provinces.

I think it is fair to categorize it—as I be-
lieve the representatives of the Canadian
Petroleum Association did when they made
their presentaticn—as in accord with the gen-
eral principles which have been in practice in
western Canada for a long time.

The bill seeks, first of all, to ensure that oil
and gas in the Yukon and the Northwest Ter-
ritories is produced under controlled condi-
tions so that, in the first place, there will be
no unreasonable or very little waste and so
that the normal concepts and principles of
conservation can be followed.

In the Yukon and the Northwest Territories
at the moment we have the ever-increasing
exploratory effort in the oil and gas industry.
Starting perhaps in the late 1950s and early
1960s, we have increased exploration hold-
ings—which I think is a fair indicator of the
industry activity—from around in those days
50 million acres, which was even then quite a
large amount, to the figure at which we are
standing now in the Yukon and Northwest
Territories of 250 million acres under permit
for oil and gas exploration.

Expenditures, likewise, have increased tre-
mendously. In the middle 1950s something
like $4 to $5 million annually was being
expended by the industry in searching for oil
and gas. This year we fairly confidently pre-
dict that that will be $35 to $40 million and
probably in a few years from now that will
exceed $50 million.
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To give you some yardstick, the expendi-
tures in Alberta on exploration, not on devel-
opment or production facilities or processing
facilities, but on exploration alone, is around
$100 million a year. So the potential in the
north is being recognized.

Furthermore, we have one or two discover-
ies, some of which we hope will be going into
production very shortly. Those I refer to par-
ticularly are two gas fields—one in the North-
west Territories and one in the Yukon Terri-
tory, in that area just north of the British
Columbia boundary. Those gas fields, Pointed
Mountain and Beaver River, we expect to be
tied into pipeline next year or the year after.

Senator Isnor: Are they Canadian

companies?

Mr. Hunt: The Pointed Mountain gas field
rights are held by Pan-American Petroleum
Corporation. That is not a Canadian company,
it is a United States company operating in
Canada through a branch operation, at this
point in time.

Senator Isnor: What about the other?

Mr. Hunit: It is the same company for both
fields. The pipeline company for this will be
Canadian and the Pan-American Petroleum
Corporation have signed an agreement with
West Coast Transmission Company Limited to
take the gas and deliver it either to Vancou-
ver or to the Pacific northwest, in accordance
with export approvals.

That is a background of the activities in the
north. I think I should refer—although it has
already been done through discussion in the
Senate—to the large Prudhoe Bay discovery
on the North Slope of Alaska. This apparently
is a very large field. I hesitate to put any
numbers on it, because I have not heard any
official size, but I think we are only just
beginning to appreciate the significance of
this field.

To Canada it also has a tremendous signifi-
cance, because the geology of the Mackenzie
Delta area and the western Arctic islands is
very similar. Therefore, we hope very much
that there is a chance that similar sized fields
may be in that region.

Senator Thorvaldson: In comparison with
that field, is it fair to note this whole field as
being owned by one company?

The Chairman: You mean Pan-American?

Mr. Hunt: This is going back to the gas
field?

-

Standing Senate Commitiee

Senator Thorvaldson: No. I am referring to
the one you spoke of, north of the British
Columbia boundary. I am wondering if there
are other interests there as well as the
American company, or whether the American
company has the whole field, in so far as it is
delineated now.

Dr. H. W. Woodward, Oil and Gas Adminis-
trator, Depariment of Indian Affairs and
Northern Development: In that case, the Pan-
American Company has the dominant acreage
position. Texaco (Canada), the Chevron-
Standard Petroleum Company, and other
companies, have also some contiguous acre-
age, which may also be approved for produc-
tion. At the moment there is one well being
drilled north from the British Columbia
extension, which is the Pan-American compa-
ny acreage, but there is contiguous acreage
held by competitor companies, which may
also be approved for production.

Senator Thorvaldson: But they are not

defined there yet?

Mr. Hunt: That is right. Neither the Beaver
River nor the Pointed Mountain fields have
yvet been fully delineated. It might be helpful
to give a brief background of the tremendous
upsurge in exploration activity and therefore
what we would anticipate in production in
the relatively near future.

The bill is divided into several parts. I
think I might go through the bill briefly, not
by section but just referring to the various
parts and to the concepts in the bill. In the
first place the bill would seek to authorize the
Governor in Council to make regulations
providing for the orderly administration and
control of the myriad of production activities
that go on in an oil or gas field; such things
as measurement of oil or gas, control of rates
of production, and the control and inspection
of the equipment to be used—in other words,
I would suggest, primarily housekeeping
aspects of the administration.

The bill then goes on to the conservation
aspect, which in this case is achieved by
defining waste and, of course, prohibiting
waste. Waste is not thought of simply in the
physical sense of spilling oil and gas on the
ground. What is thought of as much more
important is the failure to take the necessary
steps to recover from the underground reser-
voir the optimum amount of oil and gas con-
sistent with reasonable economics. Of course,
one literally could drill one well for every



Banking, Trade

few acres and perhaps recover almost all of
the oil that is underground. It is, however,
physically impossible to recover all the oil.
On the other hand, it is very easy to dissipate
‘the reservoir energy so that much of the oil is
left behind. In the old days, not in Canada so
much as elsewhere, some fields were pro-
duced as fast as they could be. This produced
an awful lot of oil in a hurry, but often it
left 85 per cent of the oil behind.

Senator Thorvaldson: Mr. Chairman, I
wonder if we could know whether the present
witness is a geological engineer or an engi-
neer or an administrative officer of the
department.

Mr. Hunt: T try to combine several talents,
sir. My background is economic geology. For
a number of years I was in the oil industry
and I was there as a geologist. I was also
with my own firm of petroleum consultants,
and I have been with the department now for
approximately ten years in administration
primarily.

Senator Thorvaldson: Thank you. I take it
your experience in the field has been in west-
ern Canada, has it?

Mr. Hunt: Yes, and in South America as
well; both.

So great care was taken to define what we
meant by waste and to make sure that we
would conserve the oil and gas from the point
of view of not leaving it behind in the
ground.

The next part of the bill concerns pooling
and unitization. Pooling is simply a require-
ment with respect to where a spacing unit is
established, and this would be done under the
administrative regulations. A spacing wunit
indicates that one well may be drilled within
so many acres. It is usually a square. The
size of the square is determined by engineers
who look at the reservoir characteristics and
try—of course, it is not absolute—try to work
out how many wells are required to ade-
quately drain the oil or gas pool.

Am I going into too much detail, Mr.
Chairman?

The Chairman: No, you are not. If you
were, you would be hearing something.

Mr. Hunt: All right. What may happen,
say, in a gas field where you have a fairly
large spacing unit, is that more than one com-
pany or individual may own or have a lease
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within that unit. You can only drill one well
in the unit so the bill provides for the pooling
of the lands within that unit, either volun-
tarily or, failing that, compulsorily in order
that drilling may proceed.

Pooling, therefore, refers simply and only
to one spacing unit, and the compulsory
aspect, I would emphasize, is well established
throughout western Canada.

Secondly, we have unitization. Unitization
is a fairly modern concept in oil and gas
production. What it says is that, ideally, it is
best to produce an oil and gas field as if it
were owned by only one organization, one
company, one individual or what have you.
So that in developing the field you locate
wells in the optimum position, consistent with
whatever the characteristics of the reservoir
are, and you will produce all the oil or gas
through, shall we say, a few wells in the
optimum position and you will not, of course,
overdrill and invest unnecessarily in produc-
tive capacity.

The Chairman: I suppose you might say,
Mr. Hunt, that unitization is quite common in
various countries in the world. It is simply a
question of the objective being to get the
optimum production at the lowest cost.

Mr. Hunt: That is right. It is an economic
aspect. It is of tremendous importance in the
north, of course, because we feel that the
markets for northern oil are going to be
some distance away. I will not hazard a guess
at where they may be, but we do feel that
they may not be simply continental markets.
The moment we start looking for markets
outside the North American continent, we
have to be competitive with the much lower
cost Middle East oil or North African oil. So
we are trying to ensure that there will be no
overproductive capacity and that companies
will be encouraged to employ the latest
approach to the development of a field on a
unit basis.

Senator Desruisseaux: Mr. Chairman, are
we talking only about the fields on the land
or are we talking also about fields under
water?

The Chairman: We are talking only about
the Yukon and Northwest Territories. We are
not talking about off-shore fields.

Senator Desruisseaux: We are not talking
about the off-shore fields at all?

Mr. Hunt: No. This bill will apply to the
Yukon and Northwest Territories, and I
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understand their boundaries are the shore
line.

Senator Prowse: Just to clarify this point,
my understanding is that we consider the
rather narrow waters and off-shore waters,
which would include the Continental Shelf
which attaches to the Northwest Territories,
as part of the Northwest Territories. Is that
not so?

Mr. Hunt: If I might put it this way, sir,
the waters immediately surrounding the
shores of the Northwest and Yukon Territo-
ries, for at least three miles out anyhow,
would be considered as part of the territorial
waters and therefore part of Canada.

Senator Prowse: What I had in mind was
some of the maps I had seen which have
come from your department, as, for example,
in the Pan-Arctic pamphlet. That particular
map would indicate that very largely the
interesting-looking areas, interesting on the
basis of now available information, are under
permit at the present time. My recollection is
that some of those permits went out into fair-
ly deep water and got a fair distance from
the shore. Now, this would cover any of those
things that you have under permit or that you
would put under permit. Would that not be
so?

Mr. Hunt: No, sir. Not at this time.

Senator Prowse: Then who looks after

them?

Mr. Hunt: There are in force regulations
that provide for controlling simply just the
drilling of all areas. These regulations were
promulgated under the Territorial Lands Act
and are generally considered adequate to
meet the situation as it exists off-shore at the
moment, because in the Arctic, in the Beau-
fort Sea or interisland channels—I believe
that is what you had in mind.

Senator Prowse: I have a picture in mind,
but I do not remember the names.

Mr. Hunti: It is off the Mackenzie Delta.

Senator Prowse: And west of the islands,
too.

Mr. Hunt: Correct. Just for your informa-
tion there are approximately 250 million acres
of permits on the land within the Yukon and
Northwest Territories, and approximately 130
million acres in the Arctic Sea and Arctic
island channels.

Senator Prowse: Those 130 million acres,
are they not to be subject to this legislation?

Mr. Hunt: Not at this time, no.

Senator Prowse: It is anticipated that they
will become so?

The Chairman: That is a question of policy,
senator.

Senator Thorvaldson: I understood the
witness to say there were regulations cover-
ing exploration on the continental shelf.
Under what act do they come?

Mr. Hunt: They have been promulgated
under the Territorial Lands Act and the Pub-
lic Lands Grants Act. They do not provide for
unitization and do not provide for waste. They
are simple regulatory acts providing for the
control of drilling. They specify the type of
blow out prevention and the amount of sur-
face casing that must be provided. They do
not contain these more elaborate matters of
inspection and unitization and conservation.

The Chairman: In other words, the area
covered by this bill is an area that has
reached the stage, or appears to have reached
the stage where these problems of unitization,
pooling and waste should be immediately
dealt with.

Mr. Huni: Yes, because we have proven
that there are gas reserves and some oil in
the northern Yukon. It is a little too far from
the market at the moment, and there has
been extensive drilling. Now we have heard
of more wells coming in the Mackenzie Delta
and as I indicated this area has a geological
similarity to the area of Prudhoe Bay.

Senator Prowse: How about the Norman
Wells area. Are you in secondary recovery
there?

Mr. Hunt: Yes, in the Norman Wells area
the Government of Canada has a direct carri-
er interest in that field and so we have been
able to achieve what we wanted from the
point of view of unitization and secondly to
assist in the recovery without this bill.
Imperial Oil have been most co-operative in
this way.

Senator Prowse: There you exercise rights
as an owner rather than as a government.

Mr. Hunt: Imperial Oil have led the way
and have done everything they could to make
the field produce to the optimum. This was an
example of where one owner owned it com-
pletely rather than having several owners.
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Senator Prowse: And of course the large
companies have a tendency to take a longer
term view.

Mr. Hunt: You mean in the sense of acting
now with a view to the future, that is right.

Senator Prowse: So they owned it all?

Mr. Hunt: Now there are three other aspects
to the act, two of which I can deal with
very quickly. The first is the provision for the
administration and the appointment of inspec-
tors, engineers and so on. The other provision
deals with the appeal provisions which have
been looked at, I would suggest, very careful-
ly. They are very similar in many respects to
appeal provisions found in the National Ener-
gy Board Act and in the Railways Act. It
finally provides for a review of administra-
tive decisions and provides for means where-
by the facts of these very complicated pro-
duction situations may be determined. The
bill provides for the appointment of a com-
mittee of five members all of whom are
expected to have some knowledge and experi-
ence of the oil and gas industry. This commit-
tee would have quasi-judicial powers. It
would not be an independent board so that it
would be responsive to policy requirements,
but it would have a certain degree of
independence to issue orders and reach
conclusions.

I think those are the main parts of the act,
Mr. Chairman, and if there are any questions
I would be happy to try to answer them.

The Chairman: Are there any questions?
Otherwise I was going to deal with the amend-
ments proposed.

Senator Carter: I have a question with
regard to this 130 million acres. Is that a
potential oil-bearing area or is that the area
mapped?

Mr. Hunt: That is the area under oil and
gas exploration permit. The potential area is
probably somewhat larger than that. But as
has already been observed some permits have
been acquired by companies a very long way
off shore in very deep water which is cov-
ered, I think, all the year round by-ice and
the technological problems of drilling in these
areas have yet to be faced. We do not know
yet how the companies are going to achieve
it, but we are delighted they are going to
attempt it. But there is a long way to go
before we can see any drilling done.

Senator Prowse: I have one or two ques-
tions. First of all with regard to the constitu-
tion of the committee itself it says “which
shall consist of five members, not more than
three of whom shall be employees in the pub-
lic service of Canada.” Then it says that they
are limited to three-year terms. Is it the
intention that the members of this committee
will be full-time employees or is it anticipat-
ed that for some time to come their duties
will be of such a limited nature that it will
not be practicable to put full-time people in
there?

Mr. Hunt: It is anticipated, I believe, that
initially it would not be a full-time job, and
the committee would be called upon to meet
probably just a very few times a year. There
probably would be a full-time secretary
appointed to ensure continuity but other than
that the committee would meet from time to
time as required. We would anticipate in
view of the good prospects in oil and gas that
it would pay off eventually and that it would
become a full time committee, but it is diffi-
cult to say how long it will be before this
takes place.

Senator Lang: Are there any reasons other
than those of policy why the jurisdiction of
that committee was not entrusted to the
National Energy Board?

Mr. Hunt: Well, it is almost entirely a mat-
ter of policy considerations. If I might men-
tion one thing, the National Energy Board
will in future, we hope, be called upon to
deal with matters of pipelines and so on. But
on the question of all policy matters, there
might be a little difficulty involved if they
were at the same time administrators of oil
from the north. The provinces might wonder
whether they were too much involved in
northern matters.

Senator Thorvaldson: I have a supplemen-
tary to that question. I take it the National
Energy Board at the present time has no
jurisdiction whatever in regard to the subject
matter of this bill.

Mr. Hunt: That is correct, sir. The National
Energy Board at a certain time might have
jurisdiction over pipelines connecting into the
Yukon and Northwest Territories, but it has
no administrative jurisdiction over the oil and
gas within the territory.

Senator Prowse: Then this would be the
equivalent of a provincial conservation board
which has authority within the area, but in
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this case once the oil leaves the area, unlike
the provincial board, the matter comes under
the Energy Board. Would that be a suitable
analogy?

Mr. Hunt: Yes, that is a good analogy, sir,
and I might draw your attention to the fact
that the committee, as proposed here, is, shall
we say, a little bit of a compromise between
what we find in Alberta, where it is a sepa-
rate body from the Department of Mines that
grants or administers the granting of the oil
and gas rights, and, shall we say, the situa-
tion in Saskatchewan where their committee
is indistinguishable from the Department of
Mines.

Senator Prowse: That is what you would
consider as a practical balance?

Mr., Hunt: Yes.

Senator Prowse: When we get to section 6,
it provides a limitation on the interest any
members of the committee should have, and
it says:

No member of the Committee shall
have a pecuniary interest of any descrip-
tion, directly or indirectly, in any proper-
ty in oil or gas to which this Act applies
or own shares in any company engaged
in any phase of the oil or gas industry in
Canada in an amount in excess of five
per cent of the issued shares thereof.

This would not preclude a person from
being a major shareholder in a gas or oil
company in, say, the Middle East, in which
he might be in conflict. I am wondering
whether it is contemplated that there should
not be an interest and that the person should
divest himself of any interest in the business
in which he is being a judge and in which a
conflict might unintentionally arise. I say that
not because I think you are going to get
crooks in there, but I think of the application
of the principle that they should be above
suspicion, and that even the most warped
mind should not be able to assume they are
influenced by anything except their job.

The Chairman: Senator, you are suggesting
quite a qualification ..

Senator Prowse: Yes, I am.

The Chairman: ... for a job of this kind.

Senator Prowse: Well, it is not an unusual
requirement for people to have to divest
themselves of certain interests or to change
the interests they have.

The Chairman: I am talking about the
scope of this position as a member of the
committee.

Senator Prowse: I think it is something that
eventually we are going to have to deal with,
perhaps by way of amendment. I do not know
that it is that important as of this minute, but
I am not sure we should not deal with the
principle now.

The Chairman: You mentioned that some-
body might be appointed a member who had
some interest in a Middle East oil company.
Under this bill you have pooling, unitization,
and all these other things, all in the interests
of getting the oil and gas to market at the
lowest possible price, in order to be competi-
tive elsewhere.

Senator Prowse: It has some purpose

beyond that.

The Chairman: But I think that this is an
essential purpose of the bill, because there is
no use developing this processing and ship-
ping in pipelines, and everything else, to get
it out of Canada, if you are not going to get it
out on a competitive basis.

Senator Prowse: What has that to do with
the qualifications of the people on the
committee?

The Chairman: I am trying to think of
where the question of conflict of interest
could possibly arise.

Senator Prowse: Let us say that somebody
is on the board and he decides he has an
interest where we are considering going into
the market, where they could be in conflict
with the company in which he can have up to
5 per cent interest, which could give him,
with a couple of other people, complete con-
trol in a very large company...

The Chairman: Oh, no.
Senator Prowse: Oh, yes.

The He could declare
interest.

Chairman: his

Senator Macnaughton: It is certainly very
interesting what our learned friend has put
forward, but surely the members of this com-
mittee are called upon to consider this bill,
and that is our outside limit as of this
moment. There are other places and other
ways of raising the other questions, but it
comes very close to policy.
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The Chairman: That is right. I think it was
pertinent to raise the question of qualifica-
tion, but I do not think it is a matter of any
moment right now. This is laying a founda-
tion dealing with the growth and develop-
ment of this industry in Canada. If it gets to
a stage where this aspect becomes important,
I am sure you will either have regulation or
amendments to the bill.

Are you ready to have a look at the amend-
ments proposed, because then you may want
to raise some more questions.

May I indicate to you the first amendment
which was proposed by the Petroleum
Association, to be found at the bottom of
page 6 of the bill?

The association suggested that the regulato-
ry power should include processing and
transportation. That has been agreed to and,
therefore, the amendment proposed is that we
insert after the word “conservation”, in line
39 on page 6 of the bill, section 12, the words
“processing and transportation”. Is that
agreed?

Senator Thorvaldson: May I just express an
opinion? If you include those words, will that
not make it necessary to make amendments to
the bill elsewhere, or is the bill otherwise
unaffected?

The Chairman: Adding those words does
not in any way affect anything else that
occurs elsewhere in the bill.

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Then on page 9, that is the
next one, in section 13(2)(b), you will notice
the language there is, “the locating, spacing
or drilling”. There is an amendment suggest-
ed to that, and I will just read the
amendment:

the locating, spacing or drilling of a well
within a field or pool or within part of a
field or pool or the operating of any well
that having regard to sound engineering
and economic principles results or tends
to result in a reduction in the quantity of
oil or gas ultimately recoverable from a
pool;

What is the significance of this change, Mr.
Hunt?

Mr. Hunt: As I understand it, it was simply
suggested by the Canadian Petroleum
Association in order to make the reading of
that particular paragraph a little more easy.
All it does is take out the words “that results

or tends to result” in the original draft and
move them towards the end of the paragraph,
rather than having them in the middle.

The Chairman: It simplifies it.

Senator Prowse: Instead of the word “un-
der”, which might be a little hard to define.

The Chairman: Is the amendment agreed,
that section 13(2)(b) be struck out and the
new paragraph (b), as I have read it, be
inserted?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: The next one occurs in sec-
tion 21 of the bill. This is on page 15, under
“Pooling”, and the Petroleum Association had
suggested that the word “two” be struck out
and that it should be ‘“one”.

Senator Burchill: What line is that?

The Chairman: That is the first line of
subsection 1 of section 21, on page 15. What
is the intent of that, Mr. Hunt?

Mr. Hunt: It makes more sense. The
association pointed out that for pooling actu-
ally there might be a strange case where one
company held interests in a spacing unit that
it had acquired from different parties, and its
royalty obligations might be different in dif-
ferent parts of the spacing unit and, therefore,
the company might, as it were, want to pool
with itself. So, this is simply to take care of
that rather strange situation that might
develop.

The Chairman: The next amendment is at
page 19 of the bill, section 26. The first
change is again a change of the word “two”
in subsection (1) of section 26 to ‘“one”, so
that the first words of section 26(1) will be:
“Any one or more working interests...”

Shall this amendment carry?

Hon. Senators: Carried.

The Chairman: That is section 26, but I
should have pointed out first that it is
proposed that we call the existing section 25,
subsection (1) and that we insert a subsection
(2) which reads as follows:

Subsection (1) does not prohibit the
production of oil for testing in any quan-
tities provided by the Chief Conservation
Officer.

This is a matter that was suggested by the
Canadian Petroleum Association, which the

department viewed favourably. Have you any
comment, Mr. Hunt?
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Mr. Huni: Only to say that we accepted
that it might be possible that a well had been
drilled that discovered oil, and following that
a spacing unit might be promulgated, and
that the company, having drilled the well,
would like to test it. Section 25 would have
prohibited that unless the spacing unit had
been pooled. There seemed to be no objection
to a controlled amount of oil being produced
for test purposes.

The Chairman: Section 27, which is to be
found at the top of page 20 of the bill, is a
section that the Canadian Petroleum Associa-
tion raised some questions about when they
were here at our last meeting. The substance
of what they said was this:

The minister, under section 27 may
require unitization for the purpose of
preventing  waste. The  Association
believes that this section is not necessary
inasmuch as the Committee, under sec-
tions 17 and 18, has the right to call hear-
ings and issue orders which will prohibit
waste. These sections also provide for the
right of appeal.

Section 27, in its present form, does not
provide for either a hearing on the mat-
ter of ordering wunitization nor does it
provide for an appeal. Should section 27
remain in the bill, we submit it should be
redrafted to provide for both a hearing
and an appeal.

The department, in our discussions with
them accepted that point of view, namely,
that section 27 should remain in the bill but
that it should be redrafted in order to provide
for the hearing and the appeal. We have been
presented this morning with a draft of the
new section 27 which incorporates those fea-
tures. This has been prepared, presumably,
by the Department and the law officers of the
Crown. It is quite lengthy but, as can be seen
from the bill, section 27 as it is is also quite
lengthy. The chief purpose of this amended
section 27 is to provide for those two addi-
tional features. Is not that right, Mr. Hunt?

Mr. Huni: Yes.

The Chairman: That is, it provides for a
hearing in connection with unitization, and
also a right of appeal. Otherwise, the sub-
stance is in line with the substance of the
existing section 27. Shall I read the proposed
amendment?

Senator Connolly (Oitawa West): It can be
taken as read. Everybody has a copy of it?

The Chairman: Yes.

[The chairman then placed on the record a
proposed amendment to section 27 of the bill,
as follows:]

27. (1) Notwithstanding anything in this
Act, where, in the opinion of the Chief
Conservation Officer, the unit operation
of a pool or part thereof would prevent
waste, he may apply to the Committee
for an order requiring the working
interest owners in the pool or part there-
of to enter into a unit agreement and a
unit operating agreement in respect of
the pool or part thereof, as the case may
be.

(2) Where an application is made by
the Chief Conservation Officer pursuant
to subsection (1), the Committee shall
hold a hearing at which all interested
persons shall be afforded an opportunity
to be heard.

(3) If, after the hearing mentioned in
subsection (2), the Committee is of opin-
ion that unit operation of a pool or part
thereof would prevent waste, the Com-
mittee may by order require the working
interest owners in the pool or part there-
of to enter into a unit agreement and a
unit operating agreement in respect of
the pool or part thereof.

(4) If in the time specified in the order
referred to in subsection (3), being not
less than six months from the date of the
making of the order, the working interest
owners and royalty owners fail to enter
into a unit agreement and a unit operat-
ing agreement approved by the Commit-
tee, all drilling and producing operations
within the pool or part thereof in respect
of which the order was given shall cease
until such time as a unit agreement and a
unit operating agreement have been
approved by the Committee and filed
with the Chief Conservation Officer.

(5) Notwithstanding subsection (4), the
Committee may permit the continued
operation of the pool or part thereof after
the time specified in the order referred to
in subsection (3) if it is of opinion that a
unit agreement and unit operating agree-
ment are in the course of being entered
into, but any such continuation of opera-
tions shall be subject to any conditions
prescribed by the Committee,
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Senator Thorvaldson: I should like to ask a
question of Mr. Hunt. Similar enactments to
this of the provinces contain sections that cor-
respond generally to section 27, and the draft
of the new section 27. Can you tell me which
is closer to the provincial enactments—the
original section in the bill, or the one that is
proposed by the Canadian Petroleum Associa-
tion? If I recall correctly I think the Manito-
ba Act contains provisions very similar to
those in the draft, and I am wondering why
you did not follow the method suggested
originally by the association.

Mr. Huni: When we were discussing the
approach that might be taken with respect to
any form of compulsory unitization we did, of
course, try to obtain the views of the indus-
try. It was felt at that time that in addition to
providing for woluntary unitization, and in
addition to providing for compulsory unitiza-
tion where 65 per cent of the working interest
owners were in agreement, that compulsory
part should be promulgated at a later time
when and if desired. It was also felt that
there should be some absolute mandatory
compulsion where it could be proved that
failure to unitize was tantamount to waste. It
was submitted that this would be a fairly
arbitrary approach to the subject. However,
it is recognized, of course, that although the
committee or the administrative officers
would do their best to determine the engi-
neering facts, it is very, very hard to deter-
mine precisely whether waste is being com-
mitted. It finally comes down to a matter of
judgment based on the best facts ascertaina-
ble at the time.

So, after a passage of time, and after hav-
ing had a chance to review it, it did seem
appropriate that rather than place this re-
sponsibility on the department and on the
minister, it would be better to refer the mat-
ter to the committee where there could be
open hearings, and where all parties who
might be affected could at least make their
views known publicly.

Senator Thorvaldson: And that is provided
for in the amendment?

Mr. Hunt: That is right, yes.

The Shall this
carry?

Chairman: amendment

Hon. Senators: Carried.

The Chairman: I should mention to the
committee that there are several instances of
29825—2
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what we call typographical errors in the bill.
These will be corrected in the reprinting, and
we do not need formal amendments to take
care of them.

With respect to the appeal sections, particu-
larly sections 40 and 41, there was no submis-
sion made by the Canadian Petroleum
Association. Those who were at the meeting
last week will recall that we had considerable
discussion of the fact that in section 40 there
is a provision whereby an interested person
by petition may get to the Governor in Coun-
cil. I would take it that this is in respect to
policy, or the factual situation—a general
review of the order of the committee.

When the Governor in Council makes that
order, the committee then has to adjust its
decision to whatever that order is. But then,
there is language at the end of section 40
which provides that when the decision of the
Governor in Council becomes a decision or
order of the committee, it is binding upon the
committee and upon all parties.

Our feeling was that if it is binding on the
committee and upon all parties, then that is
the end of the road so far as an interested
person is concerned, but there is a question
as to whether any other right of appeal—for
instance, an appeal to the Supreme Court of
Canada—would exist even though section 41
provides for an appeal. So, I suggest that
after the word “is” in the second to last line
of section 40 we insert the word “subject to
section 41”.

While the Director of Legislation is not
here today I might say that I did discuss this
with him, and as he expressed it to me over
the telephone he saw no objection to doing
this. It did not interfere in any way with the
intended purpose of the bill.

So, my suggestion is that we insert after
the word “is” in the second to last line of
section 40, the words “subject to section 41”.
Is that the wish of the committee?

Senator Prowse: May I raise one point,
Mr. Chairman. I think your objection to sec-
tion 40 and to the interpretation given might
be perfectly in order. It seems that section 40
was intended to give a residual, absolute
power to the Governor in Council as a matter
of policy.

The Chairman: It does.

Senator Prowse: They might find they
missed something in the act, for example, so
they get a decision from the Supreme Court
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of Canada. There are two things. Section 40
gives the residual power to the Crown and
section 41 gives an appeal in routine matters.

The Chairman: No, an appeal only on two
things, on a question of law and on a question
of jurisdiction. That is scarcely routine.

Senator Prowse: I follow that. You have
two factors. Perhaps you can tell me, Mr.
Chairman, or perhaps the officers of the
department could offer an opinion. Would this
create a situation in which we would take
away from the Crown that residual power,
which I believe it is generally considered
ought to be kept?

The Chairman: No, because I have another
amendment to propose to section 41, so that
even after the decision of the Supreme Court
of Canada, if you have not already gone to
the Governor in Council you would still have
a right to go to the Governor in Council.

Senator Prowse: After the appeal.
The Chairman: Yes.

Senator Prowse: That would apply to the
department as well as to anybody else?

The Chairman: That is right. Is it agreed
that we should add these words to section
40?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: In section 41, there is a
limited kind of appeal. It is an appeal from
the decision of the committee on a question of
law or on a question of jurisdiction only. This
is a right any interested person has. The deci-
sion of the Supreme Court of Canada may be
confirming the jurisdiction and dismissing
any question of law being involved, in which
event the original decision of the committee
would stand. If the decision of the Supreme
Court of Canada differs, the committee must
amend its decision to conform. But then the
ultimate thing you have is the decision of the
committee. At that stage, if you assume the
interested party had not gone to the Governor
in Council, because that is an entirely differ-
ent kind of appeal, it may be that as a result
of the decision in the Supreme Court of Cana-
da an avenue would open up for consulting or
seeing the Governor in Council that did not
exist before.

I therefore suggested that in section 41,
in cases where the Governor in Council has
not already been consulted, we should pre-

Standing Senate Committee

serve the right, in relation to the committee’s
decision that follows the disposition of the
appeal, of the interested party to go to the
Governor in Council. I did not get any assis-
tance from the director of legislation; he was
not difficult to deal with but he just did not
feel he should take a hand in the language of
it; so the Law Clerk and myself have taken a
hand in what we think should be there. You
can see what you think of it. We are propos-
ing that there should be added to section 41 a
subsection (5) which would say:

Any order made by the committee pursu-

ant to subsection (4)—
which is the one making the committee adopt
as its decision what the Supreme Court of
Canada tells it should be the decision—

shall, unless such order has already been

dealt with by the Governor in Council

pursuant to section 40, be subject to that

section.
In other words, if the matter has not already
been dealt with by the Governor in Council,
if the Supreme Court of Canada decision
affirms the decision of the committee, even if
a person had gone to the Governor in Council
first he should not be able to go back because
it has been dealt with. We have to cover the
case where the Supreme Court of Canada
may make a decision which is at variance
with what the committee has said, which the
committee must adopt that as its decision.
That may open up vistas or avenues, whatev-
er you want to call them. You may feel the
interested party would say, “If I go back to
the Governor in Council on this basis I have
a different sort of presentation to make”, and
therefore he should have the right. I am told
by some of the authorities that the situation is
intended to be inherent in these procedures in
sections 40 and 41. When they are intended to
be inherent and they are not obviously so,
this is the opportunity to make them obvious-
ly inherent I would say. Are there any views
from the committee on this?

Senator Burchill: The interested party has
the right to go to the Governor in Council
before going to the Supreme Court?

The Chairman: There are two entirely dif-
ferent appeals. The appeal to the Supreme
Court of Canada is only on a question of law
or of jurisdiction.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): After the
committee?

The Chairman: Yes.
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Senator Phillips (Rigaud): You are suggest-
ing it should be exherent rather than
inherent?

The Chairman: Yes.

Senator Carter: Would that not be neces-
sary to allow the Government to control poli-
cy? Otherwise somebody else would be con-
trolling policy.

The Chairman: It gives the Government,
through the Governor in Council, the ability
to control policy.

Senator Prowse: Are you assuming the
Governor in Council is always an interested
party?

The Chairman: I would think so. That was
my reading of “interested party”. If the Gov-
ernor in Council is not an interested party in
these proceedings I do not know who else
would qualify. What are the views of the
committee on such an amendment? Is there
any expression of views? ...Are you pre-
pared to adopt it?

Mr. Hunt, I should give you an opportunity
to make any comments if you wish to make
any. You may not wish to do so.

Senator Thorvaldson: Could Mr. Hunt
express a view on the practicality of the
proposed amendment? Is it practical from the
point of view of the administration?

Mr. Huni: The intricacies of the appeals
section are a little outside my purview really.
If I might express a personal opinion, I had
understood that the new order by the com-
mittee in accordance with the Supreme Court
could be reviewed again by the Governor in
Council, but I would hesitate to apply some-
thing making it explicit. Sometimes when a
matter is explicit the balance somewhere else
is upset.

The Chairman: Quite apart from the field
in which we are operating here, very often
when you are explicit you do not gain your
point as well as when you are subtle.

Do the committee agree that this amend-
ment should be added as subsection (5) to
section 417

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: That concludes our consid-
eration of the amendments. Are there any

other questions on this bill you would like to
ask or matters you want to discuss?

Senator Desruisseaux: It might not be per-
tinent to what has been said before, but I
would like to know whether the department
has maps of the offshore sections of the great
north showing that it is Canadian.

Mr. Huni: The base maps that we use of
the north are obtained from the Department
of Energy, Mines and Resources and, of
course, any maps that I have seen published
there clearly indicate that all land areas north
of mainland Canada are Canadian.

Senator Desruisseaux: Have they not all the
islands?

Mr. Hunt: Oh, yes. I realize there have
been references to maps published elsewhere.
I have never seen any.

The Chairman: Are
questions?

there any other

Senator Thorvaldson: Supplementary to
that, do you know, or is the department
aware of any other claim except Canada to
the Arctic Islands that we recognize as being
directly north of Canada and to which we lay
claim?

The Chairman: You are talking factually?

Senator Thorvaldson: Factually, yes. Surely
the department must have knowledge. If, for
instance, the United States lays claim to some
of those islands—

Mr. Hunt: In looking at the situation from
the administrative point of view, we have
administered the mineral, oil and gas rights
or the research rights generally on the basis
that they are Canadian and we have had no
indication in our department that there is any
thought in any quarter to the contrary. A full
answer I suppose would perhaps be obtained
from the Department of External Affairs.

Senator Desruisseaux: There have been no
discussions with some other foreign nations?

The Chairman: That would not be a func-
tion of the department, to which this man
belongs. That would be hearsay, the same as
what you have heard.

Senator Prowse: There is one question that
still worries me, and that is clause 38 which
begins your appeals. Perhaps the department
can tell me, in regard to clause 38, subclause
(3), what did you go to the Exchequer Court
for?
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The Chairman: Stated case. That is what it
says at the top of page 28, clause 39, which is
a stated case to get an opinion.

Senator Prowe: That is clause 39. You are
given that right under clause 39 surely. I
cannot see what clause 38 does. It just says
that first the committee is final and conclu-
sive and then it says the Exchequer Court has
exclusive jurisdiction to hear and determine.
It does not say stated cases for a writ of
certiorari, prohibition or mandamus or for an
injunction in relation to any decision or order
of the committee or any proceedings before
the committee. This deals with certiorari,
prohibition or mandamus or for an injunction.
Subclause (3) says:

(3) A decision or order of the Commit-
tee is not subject to review or to be re-
strained, removed or set aside by certi-
orari, prohibition, mandamus or injunc-
tion or any other process or proceeding in
the Exchequer Court...

And the question or fact or on the matter
of jurisdiction. I do mot know how else you
get that.

The Chairman: The Law Clerk and I have
discussed the relationship of this section and
its various parts. Mr. Hopkins, would you
assist us please?

Mr. E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and
Parliamentary Counsel: Yes, I had the benefit
of discussing this with the Director of the
Legislation Branch. Everyone’s reaction is the
same: It looks like the legislation giveth and
taketh away at the same time. What it does in
the first place is to confer exclusive jurisdic-
tion on the Exchequer Court, and that has the
effect of excluding the Superior Courts of the
provinces. The second thing it does sounds a
little bizarre, but there remains the question
of matural justice which is not taken away
from the courts’ jurisdiction.

Standing Senate Committee

Those familiar with the prerogative writs
remember certiorari proceedings where there
has been a contravention of natural justice.
This provision is contained in several acts
and the same question comes up every time.
It is a very sensible question and it may be
that it could be got at some other way, and
those are the two effects it does have. You
mention a stated case. That is provided for
in clause 39.

The Chairman: We say under clause 38 that
you cannot go to the Exchequer Court to get
any decision on a question of law or jurisdic-
tion, under clause 39 you can go to the
Exchequer Court on a stated case on a ques-
ticn of law or jurisdiction. All it means is
that the committee is getting some advice.
They may or may not take it.

Mr. Hopkins: The final authority is the
Supreme Court of Canada.

Senator Prowse: If everybody in the legal
department is happy, then I suppose I should
be also.

The Chairman: Are you ready for the ques-
tions? Shall I report the bill with the amend-
ments that were agreed to today?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.
Carried.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): May I ask
a question? I wonder how the chairman gets
time to go through these bills as carefully as
he does with a fine tooth comb. This last
demonstration must have taken a tremendous
lot of time; you and the Law Clerk.

The Chairman: Yes, the Law Clerk and
myself huddled for about 15 minutes yester-
day afternoon.

Thereupon the committee proceeded to the
next order of business.
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ORDER OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, March 6th,

1969:

“Pursuant to the Order of the Day, the Honourable Senator Lang
moved, seconded by the Honourable Senator Burchill, that the Bill S-30,
intituled: “An Act respecting The Perth Mutual Fire Insurance Com-
pany”, be read the second time.

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.

The Bill was then read the second time.

The Honourable Senator Lang moved, seconded by the Honourable
Senator Burchill, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Senate Com-
mittee on Banking, Trade and Commerce.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”
ROBERT FORTIER,

Clerk of the Senate.
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‘MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

WEDNESDAY, March 12th, 1969.
(28)

At 9.30 a.m. this day the Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade
and Commerce met to consider Bill S-30, “An Act respecting The Perth Mutual
Fire Insurance Company”. 4

Present: The Honourable Senators Hayden (Chairman), Beaubien, Bur-
chill, Carter, Connolly (Ottawa West), Cook, Croll, Desruisseaux, Inman, Isnor,
Kinley, Lang, Macnaughton and Thorvaldson. (14)

Present, but not of the Committee: The Honourable Senators Grosart, Hays,
McLean, Phillips (Rigaud) and Prowse. (5)

In attendance: E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary Counsel.

Upon motion, it was Resolved to print 800 copies in English and 300 copies
in French of the proceedings of the Committee on the said Bill.

The following witnesses were heard:
Department of Insurance:
R. Humphrys, Superintendent.

The Perth Mutual Fire Insurance Company:
H. G. Livingstone, President and General Manager.

Upon motion, it was Resolved to report the said Bill without amendment.
At 9.45 a.m. the Committee proceeded to the next order of business.

ATTEST:
Frank A. Jackson,

Clerk of the Committee.
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REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY, March 12th, 1969.

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and Commerce to
which was referred the Bill S-30, intituled: ‘“An Act respecting The Perth
Mutual Fire Insurance Company”’, has in obedience to the order of reference of
March 6th, 1969, examined the said Bill and now reports the same without
amendment.

All which is respectfully submitted.
SALTER A. HAYDEN,
Chairman.
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Wednesday, March 12, 1369

The Standing Committee on Banking, Trade
and Commerce, to which was referred Bill
S-30, respecting The Perth Mutual Fire In-
surance Company, met this day at 9.30 a.m. to
give consideration to the bill.

Senator Salter A. Hayden (Chairman) in
the Chair.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, this
morning we are dealing first with Bill S-30,
respecting The Perth Mutual Fire Insurance
Company. We have before us Mr. H. G.
Livingstone, President and General Manager,
and Mr. S. Heighington, counsel. Our usual
practice is to hear Mr. Humphrys first. I see
no reason to depart from that practice now.
May we have the usual order to print?

Upon motion, it was resolved that a
verbatim report be made of the proceed-
ings and that 800 copies in English and
300 copies in French be printed.

The Chairman: Right, Mr. Humphrys.

Mr. R. Humphrys, Superiniendent of In-
surace: Mr. Chairman and honourable sena-
tors, the purpose of this bill is to convert
The Perth Mutual Fire Insurance Company
from a mutual company to a stock company
and, in consequence, to provide the amount
of the authorized capital and to make conse-
quential provisions as are necessary to cover
the transitional stage from a mutual company
to a stock company.

As a consequence, the bill has a clause that
converts the company; it provides for the
minimum capital stock; it provides for con-
tinuation of the board of directors, and it
provides the corporate powers of the company
as respects the classes of insurance it may
do. It provides also that the provisions of the
Canadian and British Insurance Companies
Act shall apply to the company.

This bill really changes the character of the
company and replaces the former act of
incorporation. That is the reason the bill con-

tains provisions dealing with the classes of
insurance that the company may transact.

The Perth Mutual Fire Insurance Company
is a mutual company of really very long his-
tory. It was formed as a provisional company
in the last century and has been a federal
company since 1952. It is principally engaged
in the fire insurance business and in the auto-
mobile insurance business. Its original charac-
ter as a mutual company was in accordance
with the custom of the time, where much fire
insurance was done on a mutual basis
whereby the policyholder would sign a
premium note. He would pay part of the
note in cash and remain liable for the balance
of the note on call. As the years went by,
this method of doing fire insurance and other
types of insurance became less popular until
now it is quite rare. Even in the case of
The Perth Mutual Fire Insurance Company,
the extent of the true mutual business that
it now does is very small and most of its
business is on a cash premium basis.

The remaining mutual policyholders num-
ber between 200 and 300. The company is a
relatively small company, having assets of
about $4 million and a premium income last
year of about $3 million. It suffers the dif-
ficulty of small companies in the modern
competitive atmosphere of the insurance busi-
ness, and it becomes increasingly difficult
for small companies to compete for the
business.

As a mutual company it has no source of
additional capital funds and, consequently, it
finds increasing difficulty in expanding its
product, its area of operation, and maintain-
ing its volume of business in the face of the
competition it has to meet.

It has suffered in the last few years in
concert with most companies in the fire
casualty field from underwriting losses. As a
consequence, it has been seeking for some
time associations with other well established
and stronger companies that might enable it
to take a better place in the insurance field.
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The Economical Mutual is also a mutual
company with a history not too different
from that of the Perth Mutual. The Economi-
cal has its head office in Kitchener; it has
been a federal company since 1936, and it
is a much larger and stronger company than
the Perth, having assets of some $33 million.
It has expressed interest in an association
with the Perth Mutual.

Neither the Economical nor the Perth
wanted to contemplate a straight merger of
the two companies; they saw certain advan-
tages in having a separate corporate entity.
The Perth Mutual itself wanted to retain its
separate identity, and it is well known in
Stratford. The Economical saw certain ad-
vantages in operating through a subsidiary
as compared to merging the two operations.
So, this proposal is to convert the Perth
Mutual to a stock company, and the Economi-
cal Mutual will take up the major part of
the stock. They will be prepared to subscribe
for $1 million of the capital stock immediately
the conversion is approved, and they are also
prepared to subscribe up to another half a
million dollars, if necessary.

This proposal has been placed before the
mutual policyholders of the Perth at a special
general meeting, and has been approved by
them unanimously. Their interests are pro-
tected, since they may, if they so wish, take
a mutual policy in the Economical, if they
want to continue that type of insurance, and
they will also have an opportunity to sub-
scribe to the stock of the Perth Mutual, if
they want to do so.

Mr. Chairman, I think that summarizes the
purpose and intent of the bill. The insurance
remains in the mutual field, since the
Economical Mutual itself is a mutual company,
having no stockholders.

There is a provision in this bill that will
prevent the Economical Mutual selling its
interests without the approval of the depart-
ment, and this was put in at our suggestion
in order to avoid the possibility of the com-
pany being converted to a stock company and
then promptly sold to some other interests.
So, this will be under control.

Senator Desruisseaux: Mr. Chairman, I
would like to ask Mr. Humphrys whether
there was unanimous approval by the policy-
holders of this change.

Mr. Humphrys: Yes, senator; there were
no dissenting votes.

Senator Desruisseaux: Because it is a mu-
tual insurance company, did it in the past
receive some tax advantages and, if so,
what were they?

Mr. Humphrys: No, I think there were no
special tax advantages to a mutual insurance
company in the fire and casualty field.

Senator Macnaughton: Mr. Chairman, where
is that provision with reference to the Super-
intendent of Insurance, should any future
change be contemplated?

Senator Croll: Clause 8.

Mr. Humphrys: It is clause 8, on page 4,
senator.

The Chairman: Senator Croll?

Senator Croll: I move that we report the
bill.

The Chairman: Just a moment. We have two
officers of the company here, Mr. H. G.
Livingstone, the president and general man-
ager, and Mr. S. Heighington, counsel. If you
wish to add anything to our consideration
of this bill—and it would appear to be well
on its way to passing in this committee—
we are ready to hear you.

Mr. H. G. Livingstone, President and Gen-
eral Manager, Perth Mutual Fire Insurance
Co.: Mr. Chairman, I think that Mr. Hum-
phrys has summed it up adequately, and I
have nothing to add.

The Chairman: Are you ready for the

question?
Hon. Senators: Yes.

The Chairman: Shall I report the bill with-

out amendment?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.
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ORDER OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, March 11th,
1969:

“Pursuant to the Order of the Day, the Senate resumed the debate
on the motion of the Honourable Senator Hays, P.C., seconded by the
Honourable Senator Fournier (de Lanaudiére), for the second reading of
the Bill C-155, intituled: ‘“An Act to provide compensation to farmers
whose agricultural products are contaminated by pesticide residue, and
to provide for appeals from compensation awards”.

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative.
The Bill was then read the second time.

The Honourable Senator Argue, seconded by the Honourable Sena-
tor Desruisseaux, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Senate Com-
mittee on Banking, Trade and Commerce.

The question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative.”

ROBERT FORTIER,
Clerk of the Senate.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

WEDNESDAY, March 19th, 1969.
(29)

At 9:30 a.m. this day the Standing Senate Committee on Bahkihg, Trade
and Commerce met to consider Bill C-155, “Pesticide Residue Compensation
et

Present: The Honourable Senators Hayden (Chairman), Benidickson, Blois,
Burchill, Carter, Connolly (Ottawa West), Cook, Croll, Desruisseaux, Gélinas,
Gigueére, Haig, Hollett, Isnor, Savoie, Walker, Welch, and Willis. (18).

Present, but not of the Committee: The Honourable Senators Bourget,
Phillips (Rigaud) and Prowse. (3).

In attendance: E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary Counsel.

The following witness was heard:
Department of Agriculture:
C. H. Jefferson, Director, Plant Products Division.

At 10:40 a.m. the Committee adjourned consideration of the said Bill
until 2:00 p.m. this day and proceeded to the next order of business.

* * *

At 2:00 p.m. the Committee resumed consideration of Bill C-155.

Present: The Honourable Senators Hayden (Chairman), Benidickson,
Burchill, Carter, Desruisseaux, Gélinas, Giguére, Haig, Isnor, Kinley, Lang,
and Welch. (12)

In attendance: E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary Counsel.

The following witness was heard:
Department of Agriculture:

C. R. Phillips, Director-General, Production and Marketing Branch.
After discussion, it was agreed that clause 5 be redrafted.

At 2:35 p.m. the Committee adjourned until March 20th at 10:45 a.m.

THURSDAY, March 20th, 1969.
(30)

At 10:45 a.m. this day the Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade
and Commerce met to resume consideration of Bill C-155, “Pesticide Residue
Compensation Act”.

Present: The Honourable Senators Hayden (Chairman), Aird, Benidickson,
Burchill, Carter, Connolly (Ottawa West), Croll, Desruisseaux, Flynn, Gelinas,
Giguere, Isnor, Kinley, Lang, Phillips (Rigaud), Savoie and Walker. (17)
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Present, but not of the Committee: The Honourable Senators Denis, Eudes
and Pearson. (3)

In attendance: E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary Counsel.

The following witness was heard:

C. R. Phillips, Director-General, Production and Marketing Branch was
again heard.

Amendment:
Sub-clauses (1), (2) and (3) of clause 5, were amended.

NoTeE: The full text of the amendment appears by reference to the Report
of the Committee immediately following these Minutes.

Upon motion, it was Resolved to report the said Bill as amended.
At 11:30 a.m. the Committee proceeded to the next order of business.
ATTEST:

Frank A. Jackson,
Clerk of the Committee.
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REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE

THURSDAY, March 20th, 1969.

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and Commerce to
which was referred the Bill C-155, intituled: “An Act to provide compensation
to farmers whose agricultural products are contaminated by pesticide residue,
and to provide for appeals from compensation awards”, has in obedience to
the order of reference of March 11th, 1969, examined the said Bill and now
reports the same with the following amendment:

Clause 5: Strike out subclauses (1), (2) and (3) thereof and substitute there-
for:

“(1) Where he deems it necessary the Minister may require as a
condition for the payment of any compensation to a farmer under this
Act, the consent of the farmer for the Minister to pursue any action
that the farmer may have in law against any person whose act or omis-
sion resulted in or contributed to the presence of the pesticide residue
in or upon an agricultural product.

(2) Where the Minister receives, as the result of any action taken
by him pursuant to subsection (1), an amount of any judgment for
damages in excess of the amount paid or to be paid to the farmer in
compensation, he shall reimburse the farmer to the extent of such
excess.

(3) The Minister shall in paying compensation take into account
any amounts realized by the farmer in any action in law the farmer
may have pursued against any person whose act or omission resulted in
or contributed to the presence of the pesticide residue in or upon the
agricultural product”.

All which is respectfully submitted.

SALTER A. HAYDEN,
Chairman.

27—7
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THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON BANKING,
TRADE AND COMMERCE

EVIDENCE

Wednesday, March 19, 1969.

The Standing Senate Committee on Bank-
ing, Trade and Commerce, to which was
referred Bill C-155, to provide compensation
to farmers whose agricultural products are
contaminated by pesticide residue, and to
provide for appeals from compensation
awards, met this day at 9.30 am. to give
consideration to the bill.

Senator Salter A. Hayden (Chairman) in the
Chair.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, we
have before us this morning Bill C-155. Last
week, in our consideration of other bills that
had come to us from the other place, we
decided against having Hansard make a
report of the committee’s proceedings. What
are the committee’s feelings with respect to
this bill?

Senator Croll: Why would you decide not to
have a Hansard report of the committee’s
proceedings?

The Chairman: The committee decided.

Senator Croll: What was the thinking
behind that decision?

The Chairman: It was because the bill had
been considered and passed by the House of
Commons, and the committee felt there was
no purpose to be served in having a Hansard
record. We did not anticipate submissions of a
nature that would substantially alter the bill.

Senator Croll: Are there submissions to be
made here today?

The Chairman: No, we have had no
representation from any person, but we have
with us the director of the Plant Products
Division who will explain the purposes of the
bill to us.

I have looked at this bill, and it would
seem to me that some of the objections that
were taken to one of the other bills last week
would not be sustainable in respect to this

bill, because it contains provisions as to com-
pensation which the other bill did not contain.

Senator Croll: Mr. Chairman, I know that a
most thorough explanation of this bill was
given on second reading, but, you see, the
other committee heard this gentleman and we
did not, and if we want to look at what he
said later on...

The Chairman: I take it that there is a
motion to print?

Senator Croll: Yes, I so move.

Upon motion, it was resolved that a
verbatim report be made of the proceed-
ings and that 800 copies in English and
300 copies in French be printed.

The Chairman: We have with us this morn-
ing Mr. Jefferson, who is the director of the
Plant Products Division, of the Department of
Agriculture. Mr. Jefferson, without going
through this bill section by section at the
moment would you just tell us its chief pur-
poses and functions?

Mr. C. H. Jefferson, Director, Plant Products
Division, Department of Agriculture: Mr.
Chairman, honourable senators, putting it as
briefly as I can, this bill has been presented
because of the development of a new situa-
tion. Pesticides are now used to a great extent
and are an integral part of food production
technology. Their use is directed by recom-
mendations from the Department of Agricul-
ture and other departments. These directions
are based on the best available information at
the time, to indicate the utility and safety of
the pesticides and the way in which they
should be used, both to achieve effectiveness
to avoid harmful consequences, one of these
being residues in food products produced on
Canadian farms.

In that assessment the department works
with the Department of National Health and
Welfare. An assessment is made of the signifi-
cance of any residues that might result. The
significance for operational purposes may be
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referred to in terms of a tolerance in parts
per million in the food. When a pesticide in
put into the market place, if you like, for use
by farmers it may appear that it can be used
safely without creating a residue problem,
but subsequently new information obtained
through research may show that possibly
those residues are higher than anticipated or
more dangerous than anticipated. Govern-
ment action under the Food and Drugs Act
could follow to prevent the sale of that food
produced with the use of a pesticide accord-
ing to recommendations. Where this happens
the farmer is blameless, one might say; he
cannot sell his produce because of govern-
ment action that initially no one could antici-
pate. This was regarded as an injustice to the
farmer and it was considered that some meth-
od should be found to protect him from that
kind of loss.

The ex gratia payment approach had been
tried in a case that occurred in Grand Forks,
of which some of you may have heard.
However, that was not very satisfactory and
it was thought that provision should be made
to regularize the payment of compensation
under specified conditions, which I will men-
tion. Part I of the bill covers this situation.

Part II is also new. It provides for appeals
against compensation awards under two bills
that I believe have been before you, namely
Bill C-154 and Bill C-156. These cover com-
pensation for plants destroyed under the
Plant Quarantine Act or livestock destroyed
in a program to prevent disease. Heretofor
there has been no procedure whereby a pro-
ducer who felt he had not been awarded ade-
quate compensation for his loss could appeal;
he had nowhere to go. Part II provides for
assessment by another party—in effect a
judge—of the correctness of the award made
by the minister under these other statutes.

The Chairman: When you are talking about
the appeal section, I notice that in section 11
the Governor in Council is given authority to
appoint an assessor and deputy assessors, and

to hear and determine appeals from com-
pensation awards made under this Act or
under any other Act to which this Part is
made applicable.

Is there anywhere in this bill where this part
is made applicable to any other act? I was
just glancing at it and I did not see any thing
in Part II. How do you propose to do that?

Mr. Jefferson: As I understand it, the
applicability is provided under the particular

statute that provides for compensation. Under
the Plant Quarantine Act, Bill C-154, the
authority would be there.

The Chairman: So you find the authority in
the statute concerned, which may be Bill
C-154, or Bill C-156?

Mr. Jefferson: That is correct.

Senator Croll: You have referred to various
compensations. What is involved in total in
money and numbers over a period of, say, a
couple of years?

Mr. Jefferson: With respect to pesticides
there has been this one incident in Grand
Forks, involving four producers. The total
payment made during that period, 1966-67,
was of the order of $63,000.

Senator Croll: To the four?

Mr. Jefferson: To the four as a total
amount. This is the only case in which direct
compensation in dollars has been provided.
There was another case in which assistance
was provided, but it is questionable whether
that one would have qualified under this bill,
because it was impossible to establish that the
residues arose through the proper use of the
pesticide found in the product.

Senator Croll: Was that at ministerial

discretion?

Mr. Jefferson: At that time it was, because
there was no provision under which to con-
sider compensation except on an ex gratia
basis.

Senator Croll: Are we passing an act here
that is likely to affect only half-a-dozen or a
dozen people in Canada?

Mr. Jefferson: It is difficult to predict how
many might be affected. We hope it will be
possible to avoid any financial burden on
farmers because of pesticide residues. In
other words, if preventive action can be
taken these cases will not arise However,
based on past experience and the concern
people have about pesticide residues, it is
anticipated that in the mext three or four
years there could be a number of cases in
which compensation within the terms set out
in this legislation would be justified. It is
thought on the basis of that anticipation to be
advisable to have some procedure in being
that could be used to deal with such a situa-
tion, and that avoids the delays occurring
when an ex gratia approach is taken. I hope
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there will be no cases, but it is rather like
issuing an insurance policy whereby on an
actuarial basis we can assume there will be a
number of cases, which may be of the order,
as you say, of four or five.

Senator Walker: Are you going to all this
trouble of putting through this complicated
bill and setting up this expensive machinery
for three, four or five cases? Would it not be
better to use your energies and talents in
getting rid of the bad pesticides?

The Chairman: It goes a little further than
that. This machinery is being made available
to determine the amount of compensation.
These procedures are available under a num-
ber of bills, not only this bill, in relation to
artificial agricultural chemicals.

This is only one of the bills. We had two
bills last week that we dealt with concerning
the infestation of plants and there is a provi-
sion for commnensation. Under that act the
procedures to be followed may be the ones
that are provided in this bill. In one sense
what you said is correct, that is, there have
only been three or four cases where the
minister has made an ex gratia payment
because it was in his discretion. There was no
statutory authority. Now, they are creating a
statute to provide this authority. I think you
can look for it and admittedly we should.
There will be an increase in use of this sort
of thing that may create these residues that
are harmful to the crops and would be harm-
ful to people that might use these crops as
food. That is the tendency.

Senator Haig: Mr. Chairman, do I under-
stand from Mr. Jefferson that the producer
has to use the pesticide that is registered
under the act? He must use it properly
according to the regulations, and as a result
of some unknown factor the food has a resi-
due left on it which is harmful, does he apply
for compensation? Is the food destroyed?
How does it get into the process or the stream
of getting compensation?

The Chairman: If they do not destroy their
food there cannot be any claim.

Mr. Jefferson: Mr. Chairman, I have tried
to give some background and to get to your
point. In section 3 of Part I it is explained
that in order to qualify for compensation the
farmer’s produce must have been sampled by
a food and drug inspector through official
channels. As a result of that inspection and
analysis, a residue is found that is of suffi-
cient concern under the Food and drugs Act

to prompt the Minister of National Health
and Welfare to advise the Minister of
Agriculture that this produce cannot be
sold—

Senator Haig: Who asks for the inspection?

Mr. Jefferson: This is done through the
regular inspection enforcement program
under the Food and Drugs Act. It is done on
the basis of statistical sampling and ‘assess-
ment of where the problems might arise. In
other words, for determining whether or not
there was a problem would be by the
Department of National Health and Welfare
and through their official analysis and the
establishment that the food product was adul-
terated and its sale would violate the Food
and Drugs Act.

Senator Haig: He would have to prove he
used a certain pesticide and used it in an im-
proper manner.

Mr. Jefferson: Following this assessment of
how that residue got there. There is a good
deal of information on the cause-effect rela-
tionship of the use of pesticides and residue
levels in food and it is anticipated that it
could be determined fairly readily, the farm-
er would not in those cases be involved in
doing the research, that the residue did arise
through the following of recommendations. If
I might use an illustration. Suppose it was
DDT residue in vegetables of some sort that
exceeded the tolerance of seven parts per
million and exceeded it to an extent that it
was of immediate concern to the Department
of National Health and Welfare and that this
food should not be marketed because it would
be damaging to health.

The evidence may well show that that
kind of a residue, and excessive residue,
could arise from the following of official
recommendations that had been put on the
use of DDT and if that was the case then
this producer would be eligible for compen-
sation. He would have met those criteria. He
could have used the product according to
recommendations and wound up with an
excessive residue.

Senator Haig: He gets paid for that?

Mr. Jefferson: And then he is eligible for
compensation. The thing that follows is the
determination of his loss.

Senator Haig:
Agriculture?

By the Department of
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Mr. Jefferson: By the Department of
Agriculture in whatever manner.

Senator Haig: Then it comes to the Health
and Welfare first and then you find the resi-
due is excessive and you advise the Depart-
ment of Agriculture and they get in the act?

Mr. Jefferson: Yes, we have a procedure
now of co-ordination of activities between the
Department of National Health and Welafare
and initial inspection agencies which are also
providing information on these pesticides. We
think we know generally what the implica-
tions are in terms of excessive residues. We
do not anticipate a basis whereby we will
have very many cases, but let me turn this
around as to what can happen. There is a
move afoot now in the international sectors,
to establish tolerance levels for international
trading purposes. Let us say that where we
have been operating with a tolerance level of
seven parts per million of DDT, which on the
health standpoint of our people’s assessment
in the National Health and Welfare, is
admissible. It accommodates our agricultural
production requirements for that pesticide.
Through the international consideration of
this matter the tolerance is reduced, say, to
one part per million and this is as a result of
a consensus and we have to accept that, then
perhaps the residues that are occurring while
we are well within the seven parts per mil-
lion tolerance are over the one part per mil-
lion tolerance. This would create a situation
again where the producer is blameless but
caught. We have not been able to change the
recommendations for use fast enough so that
he can develop a new use pattern or use
alternative products and avoid exceeding that
one part per million tolerance.

The Chairman: You are talking about two
different things. You are talking about inter-
national trade now. If you have international
trade regulations—Ilet us say the degree of
tolerance of food products passing from one
country to another, such as one or two parts
per million and you have here where the
Department of National Health and Welfare
says that as far as Canadians are concerned,
such as 30 people, you can have seven parts.
You then have the farmer in a bind. He can-
not operate in the international field.

Mr. Jefferson: The point I was making, Mr.
chairman, was as a result of this international
activity where the domestic tolerance is
reduced to one part per million.

The Chairman: What is the justification for
doing that? If the Department of National
Health and Welfare is satisfied that the
Canadian can accommodate himself to seven
parts of DDT to a million gallons is it, or to a
million what?

Mr. Jefferson: A million parts.
The Chairman: A million parts.

Mr.
pounds.

Jefferson: One pound in a million

The Chairman: If he can accommodate
himself to that and it does not damage his
system in any way then by what authority,
just because there is an international agree-
ment are you going to put him in the position
where he suffers loss and cannot trade inter-
nationally? He has followed Canadian accept-
able standards. Are these standards some-
thing you run up and down like playing with
a yo-yo? It has got me puzzled at the
moment.

Mr. Jefferson: Mr. Chairman, I might tray
and explain that this is not easy. It is not a
black and white situation. The tolerance of,
shall we say, DDT at seven parts per million
does not really matter, but it will serve to
illustrate the assessment of the acceptability
of that in terms of the current criteria for
measuring the hazard. It may show that there
is a one hundredfold or one thousandfold
safety factor relative to a person eating that
food with that level in it for his whole life-
time, whatever the lifetime is and there is
evidence that it would be of no consequence.

But new information could come along,
through research, that shows that perhaps at
that concentration a person’s behaviour
changes, or it effects the third or the
fourth or the fifth generation, some way. But
they are so “way out”, the facts, or the pos-
sibilities, that at any given time one cannot
crystal ball the future with that degree of
accuracy. So it is the assessment of this kind
of thing that can change. It is happening with
smoking, as you are all aware, and it is
happening with many other things. It is not
possible to say that a level of seven is safe
and that eight is harmful, but for administra-
tive purposes you have to draw a line some-
where. The question is, how do you draw it?

It would be better, of course, if someone
from the Department of National Health and
Welfare spoke to this, than I; but my under-
standing of the thing is that we will say that
the line is drawn at seven parts per million in
this example I am using.
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The Chairman: What you are saying is that
the starting point of all this lies with the
Department of National Health and Welfare,
under the food and drugs provisions, and that
they decide whether food is adulterated, and
then they notify the Department of Agricul-
ture and then you have to take it up from
there.

Senator Hollett: If this is something that I
am using and if it turns out in the way that is
suggested, where do I get my compensation?

The Chairman: Under this bill you would
get it from the minister, if you came within
these regulations.

Senator Croll: But he is a consumer.
Senator Hollett: I am a consumer.
Senator Croll: You just...

Senator Hollett: I just asked that question
in view of what Senator Walker said about
half a dozen people—but there may be a
thousand people who have suffered damage as
a result of pesticide. Have they no redress
about that?

Senator Walker: You could sue the fellow
you bought the food from, the merchant you
brought it from, to recover damages.

Senator Hollett: What if I am the person
who was issued a permit to use that material?

Senator Walker: The merchant would then
be the person.

Senator Croll: Who invites the Department
of Food and Drugs man to the farm to see
what is what?

The Chairman: He goes without invitation

Senator Croll: There are thousands of
farms. It is not a hit and miss proposition, is
it?

Mr. Jefferson: Ordinarily, the food and
drug inspection is back at the retail and
wholesale food distribution level. They
ordinarily are not operating right at the farm.

Senator Croll: They would catch it?

Mr. Jefferson: They would catch it in the
market place. Then, if they found a residue
that is of concern to them, they track it back
to the source.

Senator Croll: When you say that they
catch it in the market place, you mean that
they would get it at one of. the large stores?

Of course, if they catch the last ten per
cent of it, it means that 90 per cent of it has
already gone out.

The Chairman: That is right.

Mr. Jefferson: That is a possibility, but we
are not talking about the percentage of prod-
uce here, which is probably about one-tenth
of one per cent of the total, in terms of mean-
ingful residue levels, meaningful in the sense
of being damaging to health.

This whole exercise of reviewing pesticides
for healthfulness, monitoring food for health-
ful levels, is really miles and miles back, if
you like, of the levels that would likely create
any health problem.

There is a tremendous safety barrier that is
being maintained, and the chance is small of
getting a food which is adulterated, through
normal use. Now, this does not avoid a situa-
tion where there is a spill or some accident;
we cannot do much about those things. The
chance of getting a significantly dangerous
residue through normal practice is extremely
remote. It just has never happened in this
country.

Senator Welch: It seems to me that there
should be no necessity for such an act as this,
because each one of these packages goes out
normally to the market with instructions how
to use it. The farmer is pretty well instructed
as to how long he can use it before the article
he sells goes on the market. If he is careless
enough to put on this DDT or other sub-
stance, or if he is careless enough to put these
sprays on, say, a week or three or four days
before he goes to the market, he must expect
trouble, because the residue is still on the
foliage.

In the same way, when you are shipping
apples to England, if you spray when it is the
last of the harvest at the first of October, if
you spray late, on the 15th September, then
you are not allowed to ship that food to the
world market, because there is a residue on
the end of the apple that is injurious to
people.

It seems to me that the whole thing rests
back with the farmers—because if you want
to spray your crops three days before you go
to the market, the whole thing would be
turned down, or could injure a lot of peo-
ple—unless you are paying the farmer for his
crop.

The Chairman: I do not think it is that easy
to get money out of the minister under this
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bill, but Mr. Jefferson wants to give an an-
swer to that.

Mr. Jefferson: This bill would not provide
for compensation in the circumstances you
describe, if the residue arises from care-
lessness on the part of the farmer who puts it
on or as a result of malformulation by the
chemical company that prepared the pest con-
trol product or the pesticide. This bill would
not provide for compensation in those
circumstances.

In the first case the producer is responsible;
he has misused the product and he is
accountable.

In the second place, if it is the manufacturer
who has made the mistake in formulating
the product and does not have the right
percentage, or if he has given improper direc-
tions, it would be he who would be responsi-
ble. This covers cases where the federal
Government may be responsible and may
have changed the rules.

Senator Welch: Is it the idea of this bill to
compensate the farmer, or is it to protect the
people, the consumer?

Mr. Jefferson: Basically, it is to protect the
producer. This bill will not protect the con-
sumer. The Food and Drugs Act will protect
the consumer with respect to adulterated
food.

Senator Welch: Why protect the consumer
from his own carelessness?

Mr, Jefferson: It is not for his own care-
lessness, as I tried to indicate. It is where he
is caught out, because he did in fact follow
the recommendations for use and either the
official recommendations for use were in
error or, because of new information, the
Department of National Health and Welfare
felt that the old parameters of tolerance levels
were too broad and that they needed to be
restricted—and that the farmers could not
adjust, if you like, because there was not an
opportunity to adjust to the new rules of the
game.

I might say, too, that one of the reasons—
and I should have said this earlier—for this
bill, is to remove to the extent possible the
apprehension that agricultural producers in
Canada might have about using pesticides, for
fear of losses arising from a change in the
rules—either as far as using them are con-
cerned or the directions for use.

Senator Walker: Is it not a good thing that
the farmer would fear and would do their bet
to get rid of these pests?

The Chairman: You are right here, Senator
Walker, but the concept here starts with the
Food and Drugs section. They make the
determination on food and drugs as to what is
an adulterated product. They might have
made a regulation some time ago that seven
parts of DDT to a million would be something
that the human system could stand. So then
the farmers go ahead and use this material
prepared in that fashion on their produce and
everything goes along fine. Then the Depart-
ment of National Health and Welfare have a
second look and they have more studies and
more information is turned up around the
world in research, and they say, “Oh, the
seven parts was too high; it should be four or
it should be five parts.”

Now, the farmer has gone out and used this
product; the manufacturer has made it on
that basis and sold it. Suddenly the Depart-
ment of National Health and Welfare change
the rules. The farmer immediately has a pro-
duct that is not in accordance with the rules
and therefore he cannot sell it. Under those
circumstances, since that change has been
brought about by action of some Government
department, in the best interests of the peo-
ple, if the farmer’s crop is not saleable,
then he should be compensated. That is the
thinking behind the bill.

Mr. Jefferson: If I might speak to that
point, Mr. Chairman, the use of pesticides is
widespread. Modern food production not just
in Canada but around the world is dependent
upon the use of pesticides. It would be
impossible for most segments of Canadian
agriculture to be even as competitive as they
are in the world market without the use of
pesticides. We can say we will not use them
in Canada and we can close out our agricul-
tural industry, but we are still going to need
food and, if we were to apply the rules to
imported foods, we would have to rule out
citrus fruits, our winter fruits and our winter
vegetables, no matter where they come from.

The use of pesticides is an integral part of
production. There is a risk associated with
the use of pesticides, just as there is a risk
associated with our transportation system.
One way of getting away from car accidents
or highway accidents would be to have no
cars.

The Pest Control Products Act, which I
understand you will be dealing with later,
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and the Food and Drugs Act are designed to
protect the consumer of food—directly, in the
case of the Food and Drugs Act, by keeping
from the market foods that are damaging to
health, and indirectly, in the case of the Pest
Control Products Act, by keeping from the
market pesticides that are going to result in
damage to food.

Senator Croll: Can you give me the names
of the two or three largest manufacturers of
pesticides in Canada?

Mr. Jefferson: I may not have these ranked
properly, but I would say Dupont, Niagara,
the Interprovincial Co-Operatives and Green
Cross products.

Senator Croll: Are most of our pesticides
imported or do these companies supply
enough for our people?

Mr. Jefferson: Most of the basic ingredients
are manufactured outside our country, in the
United States, Germany or the United King-
dom. The products tend to be formulated in
Canada; the active ingredients come in and
are put together here ready for distribution
and farm use.

Senator Hollett: Mr. Chairman, under sec-
tion 2 of the bill “inspector” is said to mean a
person designated as an inspector pursuant to
section 6 Section 6 says that the minister
may designate any qualified person. Is there
any definition of qualified person? There does
not seem to be in this act. At least I cannot
find it.

Mr, Jefferson: Not in the particulars, but he
would be a public servant employed under
the Public Service Act.

Senator Hollett: But he must have some
qualifications with regard to pesticides and
that sort of thing.

The Chairman: I would expect they would
follow the procedure of writing specifications
for the job.

Senator Hollett: I would like to know what
his qualifications would have to be. It seems
most important from the point of view of this
act. A whole lot depends upon the qualifica-
tions of the inspector.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): He would
probably be a member of 4-H.

Mr. Jefferson: It would depend on what
area was involved. If the Department of
Agriculture was involved, they would be clas-

sified as agricultural officers and would be
graduates of agricultural colleges or would
have taken courses in the biological sciences.
If it was somebody just involved with sam-
pling, say, he might be called a primary
products inspector, and would be a high
school graduate, so far as the academic part
is concerned, but would have had on-job
training in how to sample products. If he was
involved in sampling products for residue
determination, he would be very likely some-
body under the Food and Drugs Act who
would have qualifications similar to those of
an agricultural officer.

The Chairman: I think the general answer
is found in section 4, under the Regulations;
the Governor in Council may make regula-
tions, and the last item is: “generally for car-
rying out the purposes and provisions of this
Act.” Under that the regulations could pro-
vide the specifications or qualifications. So
there is authority in the act to do it. How it is
going to be spelled out we do not know, and,
of course, you do not see the actual regula-
tions until after the bill has been passed into
law.

Senator Hollett: It does not state in section
4 what the qualifications of an inspector
should be.

The Chairman: No, it merely provides that
the Governor in Council by regulation may
do that just as he may do any other things
that are necessary to carry out the purposes
and provisions of the act.

Senator Walker: Mr. Chairman, could the
witness tell us what it is contemplated that
the administration of the provisions of this
new act will cost? There is no doubt the
Government has given consideration to this
matter, since the question of money is rather
important these days.

The Chairman: While the witness is cogitat-
ing on your question, it occurs to me that
most of the expenses that would be related to
the administration of this act are expenses
that would exist in any event, because the
Food and Drugs division are the ones who
would trigger into operation any of the provi-
sions of this bill, and they would continue
under their authority in the Food and Drugs
Act to test for adulterated products. That is
where the whole thing starts. That goes on in
any event. They have the authority to do
that, and this bill does not change that at all.
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 Senator Walker: There would just be more
of it, I suppose.

The Chairman: They may need more in-
spectors. I am wondering, for instance, how
they have managed up until now without the
benefit of this bill and the several others we
have passed. When the Food and Drugs
department have told the Department of
Agriculture that a particular product was an
adulterated product and was within the juris-
diction of the Department of Agriculture,
what happened then? And what will happen
up until the time this bill becomes law and
you get the benefit of its provisions? How do
you investigate this thing?

Mr. Jefferson: That is a good question.

Senator Croll: I move that we report the
bill.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Mr. Chairman, I
find section 5 is @ complete non-sequitur to
section 3. Section 3 provides for compensation
under two conditions, and the conditions are
set out there. But then section 5 states that no
compensation is to be made unless the minis-
ter calls upon the farmer to institute proceed-
ings for indemnity against a manufacturer of
a pesticide. It would appear that a bill like
this would call on farmers to institute mul-
tifarious actions across the country and
thereby negates the value of the bill. The
most we should have in section 5 is that the
minister should be subrogated in the rights
of the farmer.

The Chairman: What you are suggesting is
something the same as you have under an
insurance policy in automobile claims?

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): We are told in
section 4 that regulations may be put into
effect to put teeth into section 3. But when
we are told in section 5 to go ahead and start
proceedings. The farmer may have to insti-
tute proceedings against the manufacturer.

The Chairman: If the department wants
this protection then they should be able to
ask the farmer for subrogation.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): And the Crown
has all the facilities for instituting the pro-
ceedings. I suggest an appropriate amend-
ment to section 5 to provide for subrogation.

The Chairman: How does the committee
feel about this? Senator Phillips has pointed
out that under this bill a situation may arise
where a product is not permitted to be sold

because of some order or regulation by the
Department of Health. No fault lies with the
farmer and therefore he qualifies for some
amount of compensation. Notwithstanding
that, the minister is not obliged to make the
payment unless the producer or the farmer
carries out certain conditions which the
minister imposes. One of these is that he must
mitigate the damage. Now, how the farmer
could do this, I do not know. But then he
could establish the condition that the farmer
must pursue the manufacturer. If he has a
right of action against the manufacturer, he
must pursue the manufacturer. In the circum-
stances I have related I do not know what
right the farmer would have against the
manufacturer. If you have regulations by the
Department of Health and the manufacturer
manufactures some material according to
those regulations and the farmer uses that
material of product, and then the Department
of Health comes along and says “we have had
second thoughts; now the regulations are dif-
ferent and you cannot use that pesticide” then
the farmer in those circumstances would not
have any right of action against the
manufacturer.

Senator Welch: Why would the government
have any right to pay a farmer for putting
poisonous foods on the market?

The Chairman: The witness has told us that
this bill is not for the purpose of providing
compensation where the product is spoiled for
human consumption by carelessness on the
part of the farmer or the manufacturer in
preparing the formula. Why then do they
make this a basis? I do not know what pur-
pose section 5 (1) serves.

Mr. Jefferson: Paragraph (a) is concerned
with reducing the loss.

The Chairman: In subsection (2) you par-
tially meet the question raised by Senator
Phillips. However, you do not meet it com-
pletely because that subsection says:

Where he deems it necessary the Minister
may require as a condition for the pay-
ment of any compensation to a farmer
under this Act, the consent of that farmer
for the Minister topursue on his behalf
any legal action against any manu-
facturer...

That is a form of subrogation, but they are
dealing with an aspect of this that the bill
does not seem to cover and is not intended to
cover. The bill is not intended to cover an
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award for compensation for the carelessness
of the farmer or the carelessness of the
manufacturer in his formula.

Mr. Jefferson: But the circumstances can
arise where you can have several causes for
the residue, something associated with the
change in tolerance levels, for example, cou-
pled with causes that arise from the manufac-
turer’s action or a spray operator’s action,
and the purpose of this provision here, and it
is discretionary to the minister if he deems it
advisable, is that where it appears that a part
of the compensation being applied for is
associated with some other cause, that rather
than expend public moneys to compensate in
those cases, to make sure that the compensa-
tion is obtained from the sources that were
responsible. I would agree and I think I am
reflecting the minister’s view of this that
under this provision in section 5 (1)(b) and
even in section 5 (2) there would be no occa-
sion to deem it necessary that those provi-
sions be invoked in a straight case of change
in the food and drug regulations or an error
in official recommendations for use of a pesti-
cide. It would only come into play as a way
of protecting the public where there was a
complex of clauses.

Senator Giguere: Who would determine if
the pesticide was used properly or not? The
inspectors?

Mr. Jefferson: This would be done as a
result of an investigation by the inspectors to
determine what was used, and how and when
it was used, and this would be related to the
research data available on the consequences
of using the pesticide in an appropriate
manner.

Senator Giguere: Their decision would be
final?

Mr. Jefferson: No, I do not think their deci-
sion would be final. Any matter that is gov-
erned under Part I can be appealed under
Part II to an assessor, and it is his decision
that is final.

The Chairman: I should point out—and
Senator Phillips (Rigaud), I think, will be
interested in this—that if we look at the con-
ditions entitling the farmer to compensation,
there are only apparently two conditions. On
page 2, section 3(2), one of the conditions is
that the minister has received

from the Minister of National Health and
Welfare written confirmation that an in-
spection of an agricultural product of that
29829—2

farmer, made under the Food 'and Drugs
Act, has disclosed the presence of pesti-
cide residue and that the sale of that
product would be contrary to that Act or
the regulations made thereunder;

That is one condition that has to be met.

The only other condition, apparently, in
order for the farmer to qualify, would be that
the minister

is satisfied that the pesticide residue in or
upon the product is not present because
of any fault of the farmer,

So, if the manufactuer has been careless,
that does not rob the farmer of his right to
claim compensation. He only needs two
things: “I did not do it, I did not cause this
pesticide residue, by any fault or carelessness
of mine”; and that it is an adulterated prod-
uct under the Food and Drugs Act. In those
circumstances I can understand why the
department might want to preserve a claim
against a manufacturer for supplying some-
thing that was not properly formulated; but,
surely, the burden should not be put on the
farmer to do it? Rather, the only thing the
farmer should have to do is, at the request of
the minister, give his consent and subrogate
the rights that he might have.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): I entirely agree.
I think that clause 5 could be deleted com-
pletely, because it indicates specifically the
duty imposed on the farmer relates to the
pesticide residue; and this fits in exactly.

The Chairman: I think the rest of the bill is
in order and, if that is the view of the com-
mittee, I was going to suggest that possibly
we and our Law Clerk should have a good
look at section 5 in the light of our discussion,
and that maybe we could resume our meet-
ing, say, at 2 o’clock to deal with this part,
because we have another matter to deal with
now. Is there anyone who has anything more
to say on any other aspects of the bill? Are
there any other questions?

Senator Desruisseaux: I was curious to
know when they would pay compensation.
Would they pay a farmer compensation only
once, or would they repeat payments so that
it could become a yearly affair with a farmer
having this kind of situation?

The Chairman: In the way you have put
the question there is the suggestion that the
farmer might deliberately each year attempt
to provide himself with some revenue.
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" Senator Desruisseaux: Not necessarily
through his fault or carelessness.

Senator Cook: Does not section 5(1)(a) take
care of that? If he kept doing it year after
year he would not be taking steps to reduce
the loss.

The Chairman: The only case in which
compensation is to be provided—and, again,
the amount is of course determined by the
minister, and within a maximum and a mini-
mum area by regulation—is that the product
must be an adulterated product and he must
have contracted or himself have used a pesti-
cide, with no fault or carelessness on his part,
which had the effect of producing that adul-
teration. He might do that once, but I find it
difficult to see how he could fit into the condi-
tions year after year, producing something
that he knew was an adulterated product.

Senator Blois: Is it not a fact that some of
these pesticides have different actions if dis-
solved in very hard versus soft water, or
highly chlorinated water? I had some experi-
ence with this a few years ago. Can you an-
swer that?

Mr. Jefferson: In general terms, the reac-
tion of pesticide residues can be different
under different conditions.

Senator Blois: That is what I was interest-
ed in, because I am quite certain that highly
chlorinated water, with one chemical, will
have a different effect and cause some of the
pesticides to stick to food much longer than
others.

Mr. Jefferson: This is an illustration of one
of the difficulties in trying to anticipate abso-
lutely what the results are going to be from
the use of pesticides or the use of any other
thing.

The Chairman: In that connection, senator,
we are putting so many things in so many
things—you have the chlorination of water,
fluoride in water, that is supposed to be good
for your teeth—that it is supposed to be cer-
tain, even by a long distance—and it must be
osmosis—that if I take a shower and do not
have any teeth, my teeth are still benefitting
from the fluoride in the water. These are
extraordinary times we live in. There is no
question but that the degree of chlorination in
the water varies in different parts of Canada,
and I am sure in some parts of Canada at
different times during the year. It may vary
for a variety of reasons. How are you going to
adjust the reactions of pesticides in all these

circumstances? The more you look at it, the
more you realize there is a great element of
good fortune in surviving so long.

Senator Walker: May I ask one question?
You were very helpful in your suggestion.
Perhaps the witness could now tell us what
the department contemplates this would cost,
if this bill is passed.

Mr. Jefferson: Yes, I did not get back to
that question, sir. On an annual basis, proba-
bly the equivalent of about one man-year for
administrative purposes in keeping the opera-
tion viable; and on that basis I suppose some-
thing like $20,000, if you pay the individual a
salary in the neighbourhood of $10,000, and
you have about $10,000 of operational
expenses associated with it. In terms of the
amounts that might be paid out as compensa-
tion, it is anybody’s guess, but I think it
would be of the order of less than $100,000.

The Chairman: In the year?

Mr. Jefferson: Yes, per year, and I hope
that it would be nil, because we have in
operation now, as I mentioned earlier, a
co-ordinated working program to nip these
residue situations before they become of sig-
nificance in the market place. This is co-ordi-
nation between the provincial and federal
agencies involved, surveillance of foods for
residues and surveillance of the use of pest-
icides.

Senator Walker: If that is so, and you have
it under control now and you hope it will be
“nil”’—there have only been five cases to
date—Do you really need this bill?

Mr. Jefferson: There has been a great deal
of demand for something of this nature and,
as I mentioned earlier, it was felt that to
have this kind of legislation in position would
provide an assurance to farmers and produ-
cers that their interests were going to be pro-
tected when they followed official recommen-
dations as to the use of pesticides. We are
concerned that they do use pesticides proper-
ly, and to the extent required to produce
inexpensive and wholesome food.

The Chairman: Is the committee prepared
to accept the suggestion I made that we
approve the bill with the exception of section
5, which we shall stand for the purpose of
further consideration, in the light of the dis-
cussion that has gone on here this morning,
as to whether any greater burden should be
imposed on the farmer in respect of his
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qualification to receive payment other than
that he shall subrogate to the minister any
rights he might have against the manufactur-
er or any other person. Is that agreed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Then, if we are ready with
the answers to this question by 2 o’clock is it
agreed that the committee will meet again at
that time in order to deal fully with the bill?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.
Upon resuming at 2 p.m.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, we
adjourned until 2 o’clock to permit our Law
Clerk to get together with the representatives
from the department concerned in relation to
section 5 of the bill, and while there have
been discussions I cannot report that the par-
ties have agreed on a wording which is satis-
factory to them all. If the department feels
that the section in its present form in the bill
is essential for their purposes, we will give
them an opportunity now to justify that
before us. If we are satisfied, that is the end
of it; if we are not satisfied, then we will
discuss how we are going to change it.

Mr. C. R. Phillips (Director-General, Pro-
duction and Marketing Branch, Depariment
of Agriculture): Mr. Chairman and honoura-
ble senators, I gather that there was a bit of
concern over section 5 and the authority
provided to the minister to restrict payment,
if you will. My explanation will be in relation
to the intent of the bill. The intent of the bill
is not to pay compensation where it is the
fault of a manufacturer or some other person.
Now in coming up with the drafting, section 3
provides in effect that you can pay, even if it
is the fault of some other person, but section
5 places constraints on this. The intent, as I
said, is not to pay if it is the fault of some
other person, but recognizing that there may
be cases where a farmer would not have the
resources to take the manufacturer to court
and there could be cases where there is a
grey area as to whether it is the manufactur-
er’s fault or not. That is why the words
“Minister deems necessary” are in there. So
this provision is there taking into account the
Financial Administration Act which we have
to follow that payments could be made where
in the judgement of the law officers of the
Crown the manufacturer was guilty or per-
haps guilty and subsequently the manufactur-
er can be taken to court. So it was in this
context that rather than putting constraints in
the hands of the minister, there was put in
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the hands of minister the opportunity to pay
without this action yet having been taken.

The Chairman: I think I understand and
I'm sure the committee does what you are
saying, but if we may do a little simplifica-
tion on this; under section 3(2) there are two
conditions that a farmer must meet in order
to be entitled to compensation or to qualify
for compensation, but the Minister still has to
make his decision as to whether in his discre-
tion he may pay and he has to make a condi-
tion as to the amount. The two conditions to
be met are, one, that there is some certifica-
tion by the Department of Health under the
Food and Drugs Act that this particular prod-
uct is an adulterated product by reason of
some pesticide in the product, a vegetable or
whatever it may be. That is one condition the
farmer or producer must meet. The second is
that the Minister must be satisfied that the
pesticide residue is in the product not by
reason of any fault of the farmer. Those are
the two conditions. Now you will notice that
clearly it does not say he is not entitled if it
is the fault of the manufacturer. Those two
qualifications which I have enumerated are
found in section 3. But then they take away
from all that qualification in section 5 where
they say:

No payment of compensation shall be
made to a farmer pursuant to this Act in
respect of a loss occasioned to him by
reason of pesticide residue in or upon an
agricultural product until the farmer has
taken any steps that the Minister deems
necessary
(a) to reduce the loss occasioned to him
by reason of such pesticide residue, and
(b) to pursue any action that the farmer
may have in law against

(i) the manufacturer of the pesticide

causing the residue in or upon the pro-

duct, or

(ii) any person whose act or omission
resulted in or contributed to the pres-

ence of the pesticide residue in or upon
the product.

These are conditions that are being added.
Even though he qualifies and is in the door
and the welcome mat is there, they say, “The
manufacturer is responsible, and if you do
not sue the manufacturer you do not get any
compensation.”

Senator Benidickson:
Cook’s point this morning.

This was Senator
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The Chairman: Yes. Under subsection 2,
they really provide for a form of subrogation
such as you find in your insurance policy
where, if the insurance company pays a dam-
age claim and you think you have rights that
are subrogated by you, they can sue in your
name and, if they are successful, you get
judgment. But in subsection 2 it says:

Where he deems it necessary the
Minister may require as a condition for
the payment of any compensation to a
farmer under this Act, the consent of that
farmer for the Minister to pursue on his
behalf any legal action against any manu-
facturer or person referred to in para-
graph (b) of subsection (1).

First of all, this is complicated; and,
secondly, to compel a farmer—and I do not
know where he may be in Canada or how
well informed he may be—to go out and take
action as the basis for being able to collect
any money, this is just playing ducks and
drakes with the statute and any rights they
pretend to be giving under the act.

I thought we reached the conclusion this
morning: Yes, it was right to insist on getting
a subrogation from the farmer. In other
words, if the farmer-producer qualifies for
entitlement to compensation, and the fault for
the pesticide residue is the fault of the manu-
facturer, then I think the minister should
have the right, as a condition of payment, to
demand that the farmer sign a form of con-
sent, which is stipulated in subparagraph 2,
so that action can be taken against the person
who has caused that. Why should the farmer
do that? You have the Department of Health
and Welfare making the order which creates
the situation this is adulterated food; you
have the manufacturer who may be the con-
tributing cause for the adulteration; and the
farmer, the innocent victim, the whole way
down the line, and they tell him he has to do
all the work. I cannot add that up and find
any ground certainly why I should support
section 5 in the form in which it is.

It seems to me there could be a very simple
section 5. That is, if we took subparagraph 2
and used that as the main paragraph in sec-
tion 5, saying, “Where the Minister deems it
necessary he may require as a condition for
the payment of any compensation that the
farmer give his consent”—and then the
minister goes ahead and prosecutes the
action.

Then I added another one this morning. I
thought that if the minister settles on the
amount of compensation the farmer is to get

and then demands a consent from him and
sues the manufacturer, he might conceivably
get a judgment for a larger amount of money
than the amount that he has agreed to pay the
farmer, or say, “This is the amount I will pay
you.” I do not think that extra amount should
be for the benefit of the minister, but for the
benefit of the farmer.

Mr. Phillips:
Chairman?

The Chairman: Where?

Mr. Phillips: It is on his behalf. I thought
the implication of that was that since it was
on his behalf, it is only offset.

Is that not in here, Mr.

The Chairman: This is on the minister.

Mr. Phillips: I assumed it was on behalf of
the farmer.

The Chairman: The doctrine of subrogation
is that the person who has the right is the
farmer.

Mr. Phillips: Yes.

The Chairman: So the farmer has to give a
consent so that the minister can maintain an
action in his name.

Mr., Phillips: In the name of the farmer?

The Chairman: That is the only way in
which he can maintain the action.

Mr. Phillips: Yes.

The Chairman: When he gets the judgment,
who gets the money?

Mr. Phillips: I take it, Mr. Chairman, that
any excess over the compensation goes to the
farmer. I am mnot a lawyer, but the
wording . ..

The Chairman: The minister has the au-
thority to say that there will be a maximum
provided in the regulations, and there will be
a minimum below which he will not pay any-
thing. That is the way I read it.

Mr. Phillips: Yes.

The Chairman: If the minister says to the
farmer: “I agree to pay you X dollars”, and
then takes action in the farmer’s name and
gets a judgment for X plus Y dollars, who is
entitled to the Y dollars? Obviously the farm-
er is entitled to that amount—at least, he is
in my view.
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Senator Haig: But he has already been paid
the compensation.

The Chairman: Yes. Therefore, you have
got to make it clear as to what happens to
any excess. If there was some third person
who contributed to this situation, as a result
of which the minister paid money to the
farmer, I can conceive of the minister’s get-
ting judgment against that person who caused
it.

Senator Haig: Why would the judgment be
for more than the compensation?

The Chairman: It could be. The compensa-
tion that the minister pays is not necessarily
the total loss of the farmer. It is a maximum
amount that is provided for in the regulations
as a general rule, or as a standard. It is not
an assessment in a particular case. So, the
judgment could well be for more money than
the compensation, and if it is then I think the
farmer is the one who should get the exess,
because he is not making any profit on the
deal even if he does get that excess.

Those are the two things I thought we were
going to cover, but we have not reached any
agreement.

Mr. Phillips: If I might say one thing more
and then ask a question, I would appreciate
it.

The Chairman: Go ahead.

Mr. Phillips: That was certainly the intent,
and if subsection 2 does not say it then it
should say that any excess goes to the farmer.
That was the intent.

The Chairman: Yes.

Mr. Phillips: Now, the question is: If
parapgraph (b) of subsection 1 were not
there, that makes it mandatory to pay, does it
not, even if it is some other person’s fault?

The Chairman: That is right.

Mr. Phillips: Does that then take it back
again and say that if the minister requires as
a condition of payment an authorization to
pursue the matter on the farmer’s behalf,
and the farmer refuses, the minister does not
have to pay?

The Chairman: That is right. If the condi-
tions are (1) adulterated foods certified by the
Department of National Health and Welfare;
(2) a pesticide residue occurring in the prod-
uct, not being the fault of the farmer; and
(3) the condition that if the minister chooses
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to take action against the person who caused
this pesticide residue he may require the
farmer to give his consent to the maintenance
of an action in his name, then the farmer has
to meet all three or he does not get any
money from the minister. But, with all due
respect to what you have explained so far,
Mr. Phillips, I cannot figure out the purpose
of subsection (1) of section 5, which means
that the farmer cannot get any money until
he has taken any steps that the minister
deems necessary to reduce the loss and to
pursue any action that he may have in law. I
do not know what purpose that serves.

Mr. Phillips: I suppose, Mr. Chairman, it is
the old story of the chicken and the egg.
There is no intention that the farmer should
not receive compensation from a court action.
If the words in subsection 2 make it clear
that there is not that intent, then that is all
right, but it seems to me that subsection 2 by
itself does not make it clear that it is not the
intention. It imples that sometimes it is the
intention and sometimes it is not, because it
says “Where he deems it necessary”. It
implies that in some cases he will not deem it
necessary.

The Chairman: In some cases he may
decide that proof is difficult to establish and
therefore there is no purpose to be served in
incurring costs in a law suit.

Mr. Phillips: I did not pursue my point of
the chicken and the egg, if I may do so now.
The drafting was designed to set out that if
there was a fault of any other person there
would not be justification for a payment, and
then to provide means so that notwithstand-
ing that there could be an interim payment in
difficult cases.

The Chairman: My own feeling is that the
whole of section 5 should be struck out. There
could be very simple language indicating that
it is a condition of payment of any compensa-
tion by virtue of subsection (2) of section 3
that the farmer, at the minister’s request,
shall give consent so that the minister may
maintain the action in his name, and any
excess shall be paid to the farmer. I do not
know what else they need say. Senator Phil-
lips, you were discussing this matter earlier
today.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): The interim
explanation of Bill C-155 was surely an affir-
mative indication that the purpose of the bill
was to provide compensation to farmers, not
the reverse, as was suggested in the informa-
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tion given us a short while ago. You seemed
to take section 5 as the primary purpose of
the bill. If that is the case it should be section
1 in order rather than the reverse. You pro-
ceed by way of introducing the illusory con-
cept of compensation to farmers by describ-
ing the bill as “An Act to provide compensa-
tion to farmers” and then, as Senator Hayden
said, under sections 3 and 4 make clear the
conditions under which he is entitled to
compensation, which could, in my opinion, on
that score lead to no difficulty of interpreta-
tion. Then you introduce section 5, which is
completely nonconsequential, a non sequitur
as we say in law, to the preceding section,
calling upon the farmers to take proceedings.
Aside from the questions of law and ques-
tions of policy, calling upon farmers to find
lawyers to institute proceedings and all that
sort of thing, is in my opinion leading the
farming community astray about what you
have in mind in respect of the purpose of this
bill.

The heading to the bill is an affirmative
indication of intention to compensate, not to
find reasons not to compensate.

Mr. Phillips: I certainly get the point, but
if I could comment I would say that I do not
think the title of bills always indicates the
exclusions...

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): If I might inter-
rupt you, the titles of bills do not do so and
have no legal significance, but surely you will
admit that the order of the sections...

The Chairman: It is the purpose of the bill.
What is the purpose of this bill?

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): That is why I
referred to it.

The Chairman: The purpose is to provide
pesticide residue compensation, so we provide
it and take it away, or make it tough for the
farmer to get it.

Mr. Phillips: As I interpret your point,
Senator Phillips, you have been alerted in
section 3 to the conditions under which a
payment is to be made. It says, “subject to
this Act”. Section 5 then gives the conditions
under which the payment may not be made,
so, if you will, it is part of section 3.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): If you use the
words ‘“subject to this Act” you are technical-
ly correct. You say the whole act has to be
read and one should not be fooled by the
indications of the heading of the bill into

thinking it means one gets relief. The basic
sections 3 and 4 are intended to give relief,
but they may say, subject to this act, please
take a look at the last section 5 that follows 3
to 4. Surely this is a negative way of ap-
proaching a relief act.

The Chairman: Maybe I am misinterpreting
the views on the committee. The way I inter-
pret them is that they are not in favour of
this section as it stands and that the com-
mittee is not in favour and there should be
some revision.

Senator Haig: Mr. Chairman, under section
(c) to subsection 2 by saying that after he sees
the confirmation of the Health and Welfare
Department that the residue is not present
because the farmer must give a right to the
minister to sue if he deems necessary.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): That is what the
chairman suggested as the first confirmation.

Senator Haig: The farmer knows the condi-
tion to which he can apply for compensation.
In fact, he has got to meet this before he is
entitled to it. If he does all those things then
he is entitled to the compensation.

The Chairman: That is what I said.

Mr. Phillips: If I may ask one question
related to this. If a farmer decides that he is
not going to—I will put it another way—with
the drafting that is suggested there is only
one way he can get the payment and that is if
he subrogates.

The Chairman: Three conditions.

Mr. Phillips: He may not want to. He may
say, “Look here, I am going to take this man
to court myself. They tell me I have got a
case against him.”

Senator Haig: Yet he does not get compen-~
sation from the Government.

Mr. Phillips: That is what I want to make
sure.

The Chairman: He is the one that has the
right to sue the manufacturer. If he does not
give up that right in effect by subrogating he
does not get the compensation.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): I do not think
you are going to get the confidence of farmers
across the country if you are going to subject
them to this type of public order.

Mr. Phillips: I am sorry if I left the
impression. . .
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Senator Haig: From the phraseology of the
bill. ..

Mr. Phillips: I am sorry if I left the
impression that the intention was to require
them—the intention is to make it clear that
they have an obligation in relation to faults of
other persons and that this only has relation
to a fault brought about through the Depart-
ment of Agriculture registering a product
which subsequently was found to leave resi-
due or a provincial department recommend-
ing a product which when used according to
directions subsequently left a residue either
through new knowledge about the matter of
harmfulness or new technology in testing.

Senator Benidickson: Or an error of

judgment.

Mr. Phillips: These errors arose from lack
of knowledge at the time. I am calling it
technology. You can test more accurately la-
ter on. The condition is that the Government
had a hand in it. It might have been a provin-
cial government, but it had a hand in this.
Therefore, there should be compensation.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): This is precisely
the point. And because it is the registration
which in the final analysis leads to the use of
a product, it is the Crown that has the right
against the manufacturer without subjecting
the farmer to instituting the proceedings.

You said a moment ago that it was the
federal Department of Agriculture that regis-
tered the product which in sequence brought
about the damage; therefore, the public au-
thority that caused the registration should be
the authority that has the right to complain
against the manufacturer, if at all, for
compensation.

The Chairman: I am glad you added “if at
all” because first of all, you register the prod-
uct. That is an action of the Government
under this bill, registration. Now, the regis-
tration means that this product may be used.
There are two ways in which a situation
might arise afterwards. One would be that
the manufacturer himself, in the formulation
of the pesticide made some error and if he
did the rights would be as between the manu-
facturer and the user of the product. That
would be the formula. The other situation as
to registration is if a product is registered on
the basis of certain knowledge, which the
department must confirm. Otherwise, I would
assume that they would not permit it to be
registered. If there was any right at all, it
would be between the minister and the manu-
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facturer, but I must say that I doubt if there
would be any right at all there, because in
the state of the knowledge at that time this

was certainly known as a satisfactory
product.
Senator Phillips (Rigaud): I wused that

expression for that very reason—“if at all”.
Its purpose would be covered completely by
the subrogation.

The Chairman: Mr. Pfeifer is here from the
Department of Justice. Mr. Pfeifer, do you
want to get into this discussion?

Mr. J. C. Pfeifer, Legislation Section,
Deparitment of Justice: Not particularly,
unless there was some specific question about
the actual drafting of the legislation.

The Chairman: I am not prepared to say
that the problem which has arisen is a prob-
lem of drafting. I think it is a problem of
what the drafting does.

Mr. Pfeifer: Yes.

The Chairman: I am sure the drafting does
reasonably clearly what Mr. Phillips said was
the intention. The attitude of the committee
so far seems to be that that is not the right
kind of intention to put into a statute in the
circumstances of this case. It may be that that
is getting to the stage of policy and I could
understand that you would not want to
answer that.

Mr. Pfeifer: Yes, it does. What has hap-
pened in this bill reflects the Government
policy in those circumstances.

The Chairman: In those circumstances, I do
not see any question we could ask you in this
committee, unless the committee feels that
there is some questions one would wish to
ask. I think it boils down then to this, that we
have our own view and we have tried to
reach common ground with the departmental
officers on a redrafting of this section. That
has not been possible. What I suggest is that
we instruct our Law Clerk, in the light of the
discussion we have had here, to draft a sec-
tion which would incorporate those views.

Senator Benidickson:
minister.

With notice to the

The Chairman: Yes, when we do it we will
inform the department officers—you could
then come in and agree with it or object to it
and make whatever objection you want to
make. This would not be hidden in any way.
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This is the only way we can leave it. It is
possible that this committee might be sitting
later today. There are some bills piling up
and if a couple are referred to the committee
this afternoon and if we still have some time
left when the Senate adjourns, if it adjourns
at or before five o’clock, we might come back
here and do some work for an hour or two.

Senator Haig: Whatever you want, Mr.

Chairman.

The Chairman: I think we are pressing
against time and we should make use of
every opportunity. I suggest that we adjourn
now but may resume later today.

The committee adjourned.

Ottawa, Thursday, March 20, 1969.

The Standing Senate Committee on Bank-
ing, Trade and Commerce, to which was
referred Bill C-155, to provide compensation
to farmers whose agricultural products are
contaminated by pesticide residue, and to
provide for appeals from compensation
awards, met this day at 10.45 a.m. to give
further consideration to the bill.

Senator Salter A. Hayden (Chairman) in the
Chair.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, we
approved of all parts of Bill C-155 except
section 5, which, if you recall, we left for
conferences yesterday. The conferences did
not change the amiable relationship between:
the departmental representatives and our-
selves, but it did not achieve any agreement.
We have therefore worked out what we think
should be reflected in section 5 and furnished
a copy of it to the department. Perhaps I
should tell you what this is. The Law Clerk
and myself have been over it, and I believe
Senator Phillips has seen it this morning. We
propose that the first three subsections of sec-
tion 5 should be struck out and in their place
the following inserted:

(1) Where he deems it necessary the
Minister may require as a condition for
the payment of any compensation to a
farmer under this Act, the consent of the
farmer for the Minister to pursue any
action that the farmer may have in law
against any person whose act or omission
resulted in or contributed to the presence
of the pesticide residue in or upon an
agricultural product.
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Under this subsection as revised the minis-
ter has no obligation to pay an amount of
compensation if he wants to sue the manufac-
turer of the product, for instance, in the
name of the farmer and the farmer will not
sign the consent to enable him to do that.

In the new subsections (2) and (3) we pro-
pose to say:

(2) Where the Minister receives, as the
result of any action taken by him pursu-
ant to subsection (1), any amount in
excess of the amount paid or to be paid
to the farmer in compensation, he shall
reimburse the farmer to the extent of
such excess.

(3) The Minister shall in paying com-
pensation take into account any amounts
realized by the farmer in any action in
law the farmer may have pursued against
any person whose act or omission result-
ed in or contributed to the presence of
the pesticide residue in or upon the
agricultural product.

Those are the three new subsections we
propose introducing into section 5. We also
recommend that the present subsections (4),
(5), (6) and (7) remain.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): What I
am about to say comes off the top of my
head, because I was not present during all
the discussion yesterday. I am thinking of the
question of subrogation. Is this specifically
provided for? In other words, if the minister
pays the farmer, then he subrogates the farm-
er’s right...

The Chairman: That is what subsection (1)
provides. It says:

Where he deems it necessary the

Minister may require as a condition for

the payment of any compensation to a

farmer under this Act, the consent of the

farmer for the Minister to pursue any
action that the farmer may have in law.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): That is the
layman’s way of saying he will be subrogated.

The Chairman: Yes, and if he does not sub-
rogate he does not get any money.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): That is
right.

Senator Croll: Did you not speak of excess?
How do you have excess?

The Chairman: The point is that both sides
agree on this that it is the compensation
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which the minister might award or agree to
pay to the farmer. The producer would be
within the fixed limits here of minimum and
maximum by regulation, whereas if the farm-
er were pursuing rights against the manufac-
turer, his claim for damages might be greater
than the amount of compensation that the
minister would award. The object of subroga-
tion I take it is to enable the minister to
recover moneys he has paid to that extent,
but if the damage figure becomes larger that
should go to the farmer, because the farmer
is only being reimbursed by the minister to
the extent of what the cost is.

Mr. C. R. Phillips, Director-General, Pro-
duction and Marketing Branch, Depariment
of Agriculture: To the extent of the max-
imum percentage and the contemplated max-
imum would be a percentage of the market
value rather than a fixed sum.

The Chairman: So if the farmer sued the
manufacturer it is quite conceivable that he
might get a judgment for a larger amount
than what that farmer would have received.

Senator Carter: How would that affect the
farmer whose damages have been below the
limit? Would they have any recourse to this?

The Chairman: If the amount of the dam-
ages determined by any formula of the kind
that Mr. Phillips has indicated produces less
than a minimum figure the minister does not
pay anything.

Mr. Phillips: That is right.

The Chairman: But, the farmer then would
have the right to sue the manufacturer if he
would work out a positive action. His rights
are not being taken away. The only time the
minister can proceed and make use of the
farmer’s right to sue the manufacturer is if
the minister is going to pay compensation to
him.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): Mr.
Chairman, if the minister takes an action
against the manufacturer for a specific
amount and the farmer feels that he has been
damaged more than the amount claimed by
the minister, is there any right of the farm-
er—they cannot both sue I suppose in differ-
ent actions?

The Chairman: There are appeal provisions
in this bill.

Mr. E. Russell Hopkins (Law Clerk and
Parliamentary Counsel): Elaborate ones.
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The Chairman: Very elaborate. If the farm-
er wants to question the amount...

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): I am
concerned about the position of the farmer. If
the minister is subrogated in the rights of the
farmer then the farmer has no position in
that action, has he?

The Chairman: No, except it is being car-
ried on in his name and he is given a consent
to that. The only right he acquires is the right
we provided here and that is if the minister
collects more than the amount of compensa-
tion he has agreed to pay or has paid to the
farmer.

Mr. Phillips: Subclause 7 may be covering
the point.

The Chairman: In subclause 7 which

remains it says:

Except as provided by this Act, no
compensation paid under this Act shall in
any way interfere with or lessen the right
of an aggrieved person to any legal
remedy to which he may be entitled.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): I think
perhaps you have given me the answer. The
effective subrogation simply enables the
minister to make the action in the name of
the farmer and subsection 7 allows the farmer
(i e

The Chairman: Would you like an example
under subsection 7? Supposing the farmer’s
family or some members of the family suf-
fered damage to their health or were injured
by reason of this pesticide residue, on behalf
of those members of the family there could
be an action against the manufacturer if the
TaulpTen

Senator Connolly (Ottawa Wesi):
could take that directly, could they not?

They

The Chairman: Oh, yes.

Mr. Phillips: There would be no need for
subrogation.

The Chairman: They do not come into the
problem.

Mr. Hopkins: As to the problem of compen-
sation it is only where the minister requires
as to the condition that there is subrogation.
It is conceivable that there might not be and
then they can sue.

The Chairman: Then the farmer is free to
pursue his remedies as well as taking
compensation.
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Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): There is a
subrogation and the minister takes the action
in the name of the farmer. The minister
issues his instructions to his own solicitor and
the farmer’s feeling is that the claim is not
large enough. Where does the farmer then
stand?

The Chairman: The farmer would be a
witness I would. say.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): He would
certainly be a witness.

The Chairman: Without the farmer as a
witness there would be some question of
proving damages.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): Of
course you would have to have the farmer as
a witness, but if the claim were restricted to,
say, $1,000 and the farmer felt that there was
a claim really of $3,000 or $4,000. ..

The Chairman: He has a right under the
appeal procedures here to question the
amount.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): It would
have to be an appeal, it could not be in the
court of first instance.

The Chairman: There are two separate
procedures. One, if the farmer is not satisfied
with the amount of the compensation there
are provisions for appeal under the act, but if
the minister—he can take those—imposes a
term of payment of any compensation the
farmer must give a consent so the minister
can pursue these recommendations. The farm-
er must agree and give that consent or he
does not get any compensation.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): I would
like to clarify my own mind for the record.
The fact that the minister is subrogated in
the rights of the farmer and the action is
decided and the award is less than the farmer
thinks is proper then the farmer, himself, has
the right of appeal despite the subrogation?

Mr. Phillips: He has a right of appeal under
the bill.

Senator Lang: No, no.

Senator Connolly (Oitawa West): Wait a
minute, somebody said no. Who has the right
of appeal?

Senator Lang: The farmer made a mistake.
He should not have taken compensation.
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The Chairman: Wait a minute. Senator
Lang, the minister settles the amounts of
compensation under the bill. Now, the farmer
may take it or not as he pleases.

Senator Lang: That is where the appeal is
important.

The Chairman: If he says the amount is not
great enough he has a right of appeal. There
is no conflict between that.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): The right
of appeal against the minister on that amount.

The Chairman: Right. This is the point.
There is no conflict in the two positions as I
see it.

Senator Kinley: Who pays the compensa-
tion, the Government?

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): Yes.
Senator Kinley: Why?

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): They are
going to recover from the manufacturer.

Senator Kinley: Why do they?

Senator Connolly (Oitawa West): That is a
matter of policy for the officials. Senator Kin-
ley has a question here, Mr. Chairman. Why
should the Government, he says, pay the
compensation to the farmer?

Senator Kinley: Are they at fault?

The Chairman: Yes. The Government
requires the registration of any pesticide and
when they registered, that indicates it is a
material or a product that can be used safely.

Senator Benidickson: They change the rules
in midstream?

The Chairman: That is right. They may do
that.

Senator Benidickson: Therefore they

receive compensation?

The Chairman: Senator Kinley, your ques-
tion. Registration is required of a pesticide.

Senator Kinley: Is it now?

The Chairman: Under this bill; not under
the other bill.

Mr. Phillips:
Products Bill.

Under the Pest Control

Senator Kinley: Is the farmer limited to
using anything he likes, that he thinks is
good? Is he limited?
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Mr. Phillips: Yes.
Senator Kinley: If he makes a mistake the

. Government is at fault?

The Chairman: If the farmer makes a mis-
take and trouble results, he has only himself
to blame and he has no rights. It is only in
the situation where you have registration of a
pesticide.

Senator Kinley: Where he is directed by
the department that the pesticide is good and
that he should use it.

The Chairman: The department, it may be,
later, on the basis of more information or
research, decide that the formulation should
be changed.

Senator Kinley: Is there a condition in the
country which indicates that they should have
this bill? Is there a condition like that? Is
there a necessity at the present time? Is there
such a condition that the farming community
is making mistakes?

The Chairman: I have assumed that
because the bill is here there is some necessi-
ty for it.

Senator Kinley: I lost a crop last summer,
but I think it was because of the dry weather.

The Chairman: It was not a pesticide?
Senator Kinley: No, but I used a pesticide.

The Chairman: Mr. Phillips, I have
exposed to you this morning what it is
proposed. You have some remarks to make.
Would you take the floor?

Mr. Phillips: Mr. Chairman and honourable
senators, if I may speak to what the honoura-
ble senator mentioned right now, because it is
an important question, it is this. Why should
the Government pay, if it is the manu-
facturer’s fault? That is an important ques-
tion. That is why the bill was drafted in
this fashion, that it is not contemplated that
the Government should pay if it is the manu-
facturer’s fault; but if it is in a grey area,
that it would be a little difficult to prove, and
so on—the way this is drafted, the minister
may pay, and then take the manufacturer to
court. If it is a clear case of a manufacturer’s
error, or another farmer’s error, it is not the
intent that this bill in totality should be pay-
ing anything to a farmer.

The Chairman: Now, Mr. Phillips, we were
over this yesterday, on the question of intent.

The only thing we can gather with regard to
intent is to read what the bill says. I pointed
out to you yesterday that there are two condi-
tions in the bill under which, if they are
satisfied, the farmer is entitled to be compen-
sated. These conditions set out in the bill are
simply that the food and welfare department
has said that this is an adulterated product
and, secondly, the farmer is able to establish
that it was not his fault, that this pesticide
residue remained on the product.
Those are the two conditions.

We have added, in the form in which we
have this amendment this morning, a third
condition, that is, if the minister wants to sue
somebody who is to blame, like a manufac-
tuere, for the pesticide residue, then the
farmer must give him a consent and must
subrogate his rights so that the minister can
enforce them—or he does not get compensa-
tion.

But Mr. Phillips says the intent of this bill
was not to pay the farmer, not to take any
obligation to pay the farmer, where the con-
dition arises by reason of some action or neg-
lect by the manufacturer. Those are not the
conditions that are set out in the bill.

Senator Benidickson: The third point is the
one brought up by Senator Phillips yesterday,
that the farmer does not have to do the suing.

The Chairman: That is right.

Senator Benidickson: And go to some dis-
tance to find a lawyer, and so on, to do it.

The Chairman: If there is going to be any
suing, the farmer subrogates the minister.

Senator Benidickson: And leaves it to the
Crown officer to do the suing.

The Chairman: That is right.

Senator Croll: When he does get into a
lawsuit, he thinks the amount is insufficient,
and the Government goes ahead and collects
a thousand dollars. The farmer says his cab-
bage was worth $4,000. Then he still has to go
back to court, for the purpose of getting that.

The Chairman: No, no.

Senator Croll: Then he

minister?

goes to the

The Chairman: The minister is the one who
fixes the amount of compensation. If the
farmer is not satisfied with the amount the
minister fixes, he has a right of appeal, under
this bill, to an assessor.



Senator Croll: Yes.

The Chairman: Then the situation is
reviewed there and whatever the award is,
either the minister’s amount is confirmed or it
is not confirmed.

Senator Croll: That is done before the

objection.

The Chairman: It can be done at any time,
independently or otherwise

Senator Croll: If it is done before, the
farmer has to know how much it is, or how is
he to know what he is to say he wants to
collect. It would not do for him to say he
wants to collect $1,000 and collect $3,000; he
might say he wants to collect $3,000 and then
collect $1,000. But in this case he does not do
it without a purpose.

The Chairman: In the subrogation, the
farmer would give, for the subrogation
application, the amount of damages that would
be sued for.

Senator Croll: In the natural course of
events, the farmer will always feel he is being
done in and his damages claim is always
higher than the Minister is willing to pay.
That is a normal thing. In the end, we have
the farmer saying that, anyway, he is not
satisfied with this amount and that he is
going to sue, anyhow. I understood that the
purpose in this section—I was mot here for
the later discussion yesterday, so I could not
follow it —was to deal with the little farmer
who cannot afford to sue. Why should he —let
the Government do this. He is not at fault.
The Government then does it, but you do not
get the farmer out of court, and you have an
unsatisfied farmer.

The Chairman: You get him out of court.
Under the bill, the farmer could be required
to maintain an action himself, as a condition
of being able to get compensation from the
minister. We said that that is not right. We
say that, if the minister wants to recover any
amount of compensation he is paying to the
farmer, he should sue whoever is responsible
for creating that situation; and the only con-
tribution the farmer can make to it is to
subrogate his rights.

Senator Croll: I follow that. What does Mr.
Phillips say on that?

Mr. Phillips: With respect, I would like to
speak to the point you made, Mr. Chairman. I
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was talking about the intent of the Govern-
ment, and you were talking about the intent
of the words_

The Chairman: The intent of the bill.

Mr. Phillips: In order for us to establish
what the bill should say, I believe we can go
back to the intent of the Government with
respect to the presentation of the bill, and I
was speaking to that.

The bill was drafted in a manner to pro-
vide intent, in the view of the law officers of
the Crown. In the view of this committee
there is some question about that.

The Chairman: There is not any question in
my mind.

Mr. Phillips: There is certain discussion,
and that is why I am speaking to it now. The
suggestion is made that, with the amendment
of clause 5, you have made three things. But
the answer that was given to me yesterday
was that anything within clause 5 is not prov-
iding a substantive condition. I had argued
that it was, because it was part of the bill,
and clause 3 said “subject to this bill”’; and I
say that clauses 3 and 5 are substantive parts
of the bill.

The Chairman: You will not get any argu-
ment on that, certainly not from me. These
sections are substantive law.

Mr. Phillips: I admitted that they are
removed from one another and that you have
clause 4, with regulations, in between; but
they are both substantive parts.

Speaking to the amendment proposed, there
are at least two things in there that are
improper, in my view. One is, it removed (a)
of (1); and that is designed so that, let us say
that carrots had a residue on them and the
food and drugs section said they may not be
sold, and the farmer says he wants compensa-
tion and then the minister tells the farmer
that if he washes the carrots the residue will
disappear, and so the farmer washes them.
That is what (a) says.

The Chairman: Which (a) are you talking
about?

Mr. Phillips: About (1)(a)
The Chairman: Of clause'5?
Mr. Phillips: Yes.

The Chairman: Very well.
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Mr. Phillips: It says:

(a) to reduce the loss occasioned to him
by reason of such pesticide residue,

That has been removed. The second part is
that in (2) or (3), the amended clause you are
proposing, the minister not only must get the
subrogation but must pay the costs of the
action, and give the farmer the money that is
collected over the amount of the compensa-
tion; and it was not the intent that this should
occur. It was not the intent—I am back to
Government intent now, Mr. Chairman—it
was not the Government intent that the Gov-
ernment should pay at all, except as an
interim measure, if it were the fault of the
manufacturer or some other person.

The Chairman: Can we just deal with those
two points, Mr. Phillips? First of all there is
the question of washing the carrots and tak-
ing the pesticides off them. I read subsection
(4) of section 5, which remains in, and this is
what it says:

5. (4) Where a farmer realizes any
amount from the disposition or use of any
product or property in respect of which
compensation may be or has been paid
pursuant to this Act, he shall forthwith
notify the Minister of the amounts so
received and, if he has been paid any
compensation by the Minister, shall repay
to the Minister such compensation pay-
ment or part thereof as the Minister may
direct.

That means, if there is pesticide residue on
the carrots, the farmer makes a claim for
compensation and the minister awards an
amount. Then, if the farmer discovers he can
wash these carrots and make use of them, the
moment he does so, under section 5 (4), he is
under the obligation to notify the minister. If
the minister has paid compensation or has
settled an amount, the minister is then in a
position to determine what amount shall be
deducted because the farmer has made some
use of the product. To me that covers that
point.

Now, with respect to the other point about
the minister paying the costs, my friend must
know that, as I will point out to him, when
you sue and collect a judgment in damages,
for example $2,000, that is only one part of it.
That is the judgment. But you also get an
award of costs, that is, the taxed costs of the
action. In that kind of situation the tax costs
are another aspect of the judgment. The
excess that is being talked about in the
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amendment that we propose is the excess in
the judgment. In other words, if the compen-~
sation that the minister agreed to pay to the
farmer were $2,000, and then the minister
went to court suing in the name of the farmer
and got a judgment for $4,000, the excess
would be the difference between the $2,000
and the $4,000. The costs are a plus. The
plaintiff, the minister as the plaintiff subro-
gated to the rights of the farmer, would tax
the costs and collect the money.

Senator Croll: What do you say to that, Mr.
Phillips?

Mr. Phillips: Well, the Chairman raised two
points. I am sorry, but I must disagree with
the first point, because, although I agree with
the way he put it, nevertheless, under section
1 (a) it says that the minister can tell the
farmer to wash them. Under your proposal,
Mr. Chairman, the farmer can say, “Maybe I
will wash them.” But under section 1 (a) it
says he must wash them if he can get value
out of them. In those circumstances he must
wash them. That is the distinction. It puts it
in the hands of the minister to say, before he
pays compensation, that “you shall take steps
that are possible to reduce the losses before I
will consider compensation”.

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Mr. Chairman,
speaking to Mr. Phillips, under the law, sec-
tion 3, the minister may pay the amount. He
is under no obligation to pay, when you go
back to the basic issue as to whether the
minister will compensate the farmer. Surely,
if it is permissive rather than mandatory, you
do not have to be concerned about whether a
farmer washes the carrots or not. The minis-
ter will say, “Wash the carrots; otherwise I
may not exercise my permissive right.” It is
as simple as that.

The Chairman: Yes, senator, this is permis-
sive; the minister may award. If the carrots
have a pesticide residue on them and the
minister, on the advice he receives, knows
that if you wash them properly the residue
will disappear, but the farmer in making a
claim refuses to wash the carrots, then the
minister has a discretion whether he will pay
or not pay the amount up to the maximum
which he can pay, and he can reflect all those
considerations in that amount.

Mr. Phillips: Mr. Chairman, it has been
indicated to me that we should make in the
bill things clear as to what the minister can
do. Now the situation is that you do not make
it clear because it is a matter of “maybe”.



Senator Phillips (Rigaud): Mr. Phillips, if
you are saying that that suggestion was made
by me, I draw your attention to the fact that
I did not make such a suggestion.

Mr. Phillips: I am sorry. I am just talking
in the general sense. . .

Senator Phillips (Rigaud): With all respect,
sir, you are placing in the mouths of some of
the senators here alleged suggestions.

Mr. Phillips: I am sorry. If I could rephrase
it and indicate, with respect, that it was
pointed out to me yesterday, or in this com-
mittee, that it was not made clear in section 3
that there were three conditions and therefore
we should change the bill. And now I am
pointing out that in section 5 there was a
point made clear and it suggested that you
can do these things by an indirect means, “so
don’t make it clear”. This is my interpreta-
tion, correctly or incorrectly.

The Chairman: May I tell you, Mr. Phillips,
that in anything I have said or anything I
have heard members of this committee say
there has been no suggestion of the kind that
in some indirect way the minister may do
this, that or the other thing. The statute says
that the minister “may” pay. That means
there is a discretion. Then the bill also pro-
vides that there “shall be minimum and max-
imum amounts”, and you have indicated that
the likely basis would be about 80 per cent of
the market value. The minister has a discre-
tion, in the first place as to whether he will
pay or not and in the second as to the amount
which he will pay. He can weigh and reflect
in just the same way as a court in determin-
ing the amount, if he decides he is going to
pay. If the farmer will not wash the carrots,
the minister will decide that the farmer is
entitled to less. That is not suggesting any
indirect way.

Mr. Phillips: I am sorry, Mr. Chairman. I
apologize, if I left any wrong impression.

Senator Connolly (Otitawa West): I do not
think anybody expects you to feel that way,
Mr. Phillips.

Mr. Chairman, Mr. Phillips has not said
this, but it is implicit in what has gone on; it
seems to me that his concern is for the fact
that there is a policy question here as to a
decision the Government has taken that they
would go so far. Perhaps his difficulty arises
from the fact that we want to go farther than
that policy suggests, and we think it improves
the bill by so doing.
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The Chairman: What is the policy point to
which you are addressing your remarks?

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): The ques-
tion of subrogation. We think we are improv-
ing it.

The Chairman: Subrogation is in the bill as
an added provision that the minister might
take. But this is an observation that stands
without our amendment. If the minister told
the farmer to go ahead and sue the manufac-
turer on the basis that, if he did not sue, he
would not get any money, that situation
would not be good. So we took that out but
we left the subrogation part of it in. We said
that was enough.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): Yes, that
is right.

Mr. Phillips: That to me was an important
point. That is, that you have taken it out. The
way it is written under the redraft, I admit
that if the minister deems it necessary he
must get the subrogation before he will pay
any compensation, but, if it were a clear-cut
case and, to use an example that someone
else suggested, if it were a very large farmer
who had money and background, it would not
be the intent that the Government should do
it on his behalf. He would do it himself.

This implies that you would have to pay,
unless the positive action is taken of deeming
it necessary to get subrogation. This is a fine
point.

Senator Connolly (Otitawa Wesi): I think
Senator Phillips’ point about the use of
“maybe” may get you off the hook. Now I
may be in a somewhat querulous frame of
mind this morning, but taxed costs are one
thing and counsel fees are another. We may
be adding to the impost by saying that if
there is subrogation and the minister takes
the action that ultimately it may cost the
exchequer a little money in the way of coun-
sel fees.

The Chairman: Senator Connolly, as you
know there are two scales of costs; one is on
the party and party basis and the other is on
the solicitor and client basis. When you go to
court as a plaintiff and get a judgment, you
get an award and some of these have costs
taxed on a party and party basis which is a
lower basis than the solicitor and client basis
and the counsel fees are part of the taxed
costs and it is done by an independent taxing
officer who does the taxing on the party and
party basis.
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Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): But there
is the solicitor and client aspect of it.

The Chairman: That is a problem for the
minister having in mind the counsel he
retains. Most likely he would use a lawyer
from the Department of Justice.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): Yes. This
might not mean any addition.

The Chairman: I do not think the ways and
means are being disturbed at all.

Senator Isnor: Mr. Chairman, we have
before us an amendment. Has that been
approved or not by the department?

The Chairman: No, it has not been
approved by the department.

Senator Isnor: Do they object to it?

The Chairman: Well, you have heard Mr.
Phillips this morning. That is the extent of
the objection. If I may paraphrase it, and I
know I am running the risk of misstating it,
the point he made was that the department
did not intend in any way to pay money if
the fault were the fault of the manufacturer.
Therefore they have a provision in the bill
which I presume would become operative
where they would say to the farmer “go
ahead and sue the manufacturer yourself.”
Our view was that that was wrong; they have
a provision in the bill for subrogation, and in
establish'ng the conditions for the provisions
in clause 3 they have not included this one
about the farmer having to sue the
manufacturer.

Senator Isnor: Are you recommending your
amendment to this committee?

The Chairman: To the extent a chairman
may recommend anything to the committee. I
can tell you that Mr. Hopkins and myself
have worked on this and made a number of
redrafts and we only took on the job because
we felt that in doing this we were reflecting
the view that had been indicated by most
members of the committee. Now we say that
this amendment does reflect the view of the
committee as expressed here in connection
with this section.

Senator Isnor:
this?

And do you recommend

The Chairman: We recommend it to the
extent, as I have said, that a chairman may
recommend.
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Senator Lang: I will recommend it for you,
Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman: We say that these proposed
amendments do what appears to be the inten-
tion of this committee that this legislation
should do.

Senator Lang: May we have the question
then?

The Chairman: Well, it is not my intention
to cut off any presentations Mr. Phillips may
wish to make.

Mr. Phillips: Mr. Chairman, I believe I
have made my position clear. I understand
from Mr. Pfeifer that he has a slightly differ-

ent view on this matter of cost from what

was expressed here.

Senator Carter: Mr. Chairman, there was
only one objection Mr. Phillips had. You
answered the one about costs, so that has
been taken care of. The legislation here only
applies to excess judgments. The only other
objection he raised was that the minister
under the present bill could say to the farmer
“you go ahead and do something before I will
consider this.” Now he maintains under the
new amendment he cannot do that. I only see
one valid objection that Mr. Phillips has
raised.

The Chairman: Is that about the washing of
the carrots?

Senator Carter: Yes.

The Chairman: The minister can refuse to
pay if the farmer will not wash. You know
the old saying: “No tickey no laundry”.

Mr. Pfeifer, you wished to say something?

Mr. J. C. Pifeifer, Legislation Section,
Depariment of Justice: Mr. Chairman, just on
the issue in the proposed new subclause 2 and
Senator Connolly’s remarks about costs, I cer-
tainly do not disagree with the suggestion
made about costs in the committee today, but
the way the proposed amendment is worded
does not distinguish between awards and costs.
It simply says any amount in excess of the
amount paid to the farmer by way of com-
pensation would be reimbursed to the farmer.
Now in my submission “any amount” would
include costs or an award. The proposed
amendment does not distinguish between
costs and awards at all.

The Chairman: You are concerned that the
word “amount” might be interpreted to mean
the costs as well?
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Mr. Pfeifer: To my mind, sir, it would
include any amount. It is subject to this inter-
pretation, in any event.

Senator Lang: Well then if you change the
word “any” to the word “such” it would get
rid of that difficulty.

The Chairman: If we are concerned about
that we could use three words in place of one.
We could say “any judgment for damages in
excess of”’. What do you think of that, Mr.
Hopkins?

Mr. Hopkins: Or “the amount of any judg-
ment for damages.”

The Chairman: Yes, we could say “the

amount of any judgment for damages”.

Mr. Phillips: Am I correct in saying that
from the explanation of costs as given here,
where there is a lawyer-client relationship,
and the costs in that for the lawyer were in
excess of the other type, that then this would
be a cost against the Crown for such excess?

The Chairman: No, I did not say anything
of the kind. I said there were two bases on
which you tax costs, one is a party and party
basis and the other is a solicitor and client
basis.

Mr. Phillips: I took it that on the second
basis the solicitor could get more than on the
party and party basis.

Mr. Chairman: If the Crown started an
action in the name of the farmer, the Crown
would have a lawyer and the solicitor and
client relationship would be the relationship
between that lawyer and the Crown. Then if
the Crown did not pay the fees the lawyer
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thought he should get, he could have them
taxed. They might be taxed higher or lower.
But that is a fact that the Crown could con-
trol. I know the situation arises where they
tell you “this is so much a day and you can
take it or not.”

Mr. Phillips: Whichever way it is, it is
taxed as a charge against the Crown.

The Chairman: Is it agreed, in order to
remove it beyond the possibility of doubt,
that instead of saying “any amount” we say,
“the amount of any judgment for damages”?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman:
tion, Mr. Pfeifer?

That removes your objec-

Mr. Pfeifer: I could not say that, no.

The Chairman: Let us say on that point—
because I understand you are not agreeing or
expressing any approval of the section—that
you told me yesterday the reason for it was
that it was not in accordance with the policy
decisions that were made and on the basis of
which the bill was drafted.

Are you ready for the question?
Hon. Senators: Yes.

The Chairman: Shall this amendment

carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Shall I report the bill with
the amendment?
Hon, Senators: Agreed.

The committee proceeded to the next order
of business.
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ORDER OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, March 18th,
1969: '

“Pursuant to the Order of the Day, the Senate proceeded to the con-
sideration of the Report of the Standing Senate Committee on Banking,
Trade and Commerce on the Bill S-29, intituled: “An Act respecting the
production and conservation of oil and gas in the Yukon Territory and
the Northwest Territories”.

The Honourable Senator Hayden moved, seconded by the Honourable
Senator Langlois, that the Report be adopted now.

After debate,

In amendment, the Honourable Senator Prowse moved, seconded by
the Honourable Senator McElman, that the Report be not now adopted,
but that it be referred back to the Standing Committee on Banking, Trade
and Commerce for further consideration.

After debate, and the question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative.”

ROBERT FORTIER,
Clerk of the Senate.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

WEDNESDAY, March 19th, 1969.
(31)
At 10:40 a.m. the Committee proceeded to further consider the Report of
the Committee on Bill S-29, “An Act respecting the production and conservation

of oil and gas in the Yukon Territory and the Northwest Territories” which was
referred back to the Committee on March 19th, 1969.

Present: The Honourable Senators Hayden (Chairman), Benidickson, Blois,
Burchill, Carter, Connolly (Ottawa West), Cook, Croll, Desruisseaux, Gelinas,
Giguére, Haig, Hollett, Isnor, Savoie, Walker, Welch and Willis. (18)

Present, but not of the Committee: The Honourable Senators Bourget, Phil-
lips (Rigaud), and Prowse. (3)

In attendance: E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary Counsel.

The following witnesses were heard:

Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development:
(Resource and Economic Development Group)

A. D. Hunt, Director.

Dr. H. W. Woodward, Chief, Oil and Mineral Division.

Upon motion, it was Resolved to report that the Committee had re-examined
the said Report and recommends its adoption by the Senate.

A sub-committee composed of the Honourable Senators Hayden (Chair-
man), Connolly (Ottawa West), Desruisseaux and Flynn, was constituted to
examine in detail the Bill S-17, “An Act respecting Investment Companies”.

At 11:45 am. the Committee adjourned until 2:00 p.m.
ATTEST:

Frank A. Jackson,
Clerk of the Committee.
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REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY, March 19th, 1969.

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and Commerce to
which was referred back for further consideration the Report on Bill S-29,
“An Act respecting the production and conservation of oil and gas in the Yukon
Territory and the Northwest Territories”, presented to the Senate, 13th March,
1969, has in obedience to the order of reference back of March 18th, 1969,
re-examined the said Report and recommends its adoption by the Senate.

All which is respectfully submitted.

SALTER A. HAYDEN,
Chairman.

28—6



THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON BANKING,
TRADE AND COMMERCE
EVIDENCE

Wednesday, March 19, 1969

The Standing Senate Committee on Bank-
ing, Trade and Commerce, to which was
referred back for further the consideration,
the Report on Bill S-29, respecting the pro-
duction and conservation of oil and gas in the
Yukon territory and the Northwest Territo-
ries, met this day at 10:40 a.m. to give further
consideration to the bill.

Senator Salier A. Hayden (Chairman) in
the Chair.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, the
Committee’s Report on Bill S-29 has been
referred back to this committee for further
consideration. Last night the Senate, on a
motion of Senator Prowse, referred the
Report back to this committee for the purpose
of consideration of provisions for the protec-
tion of the environment—that is, the protec-
tion of the land surface and the forestry in
the areas where drilling operations, produc-
tion, transportation, and processing are being
carried on.

Senator Prowse, for the purpose of having
the record clear, and so that we can get down
to the business of dealing with it, would you
make a statement as to the exact point which
formed the basis of your motion?

Senator Haig: Which section are we dealing
with, Mr. Chairman?

The Chairman: If we are to amend the bill
then there will be an amendment to section
12 which sets out the regulatory power of the
Governor in Council. I think that any amend-
ment we make in this connection would occur
there.

Senator Prowse, would you tell us what the
neat point is, and then we can get down to
the business of dealing with it.

Senator Prowse: Mr. Chairman, I inter-
vened last night because I received yesterday
a letter from Professor A. R. Thompson of

the Faculty of Law, University of Alberta,
and who is co-author with Mr. Lewis of a
definitive text on petroleum and natural gas
law.

The Chairman: Yes, and to identify the
other author, Mr. Lewis, he was the witness
who appeared before us representing the
Canadian Petroleum Association at our sitting
last week?

Senator Prowse: That is right. He says that
he has discussed this matter with Mr. Lewis,
and that there is a difference of opinion
between them. This is what he says:

There is one respect in which I consider
the Bill to be lacking where Ed...

That is, Mr. D. E. Lewis.
...does not agree with me.

Section 12(gq) of the Bill authorizes
regulations dealing with pollution, but
the Bill does not contain any provisions
dealing with surface use of land or
authorizing regulations requiring restora-
tion of the surface or other protective
measures for the surface. Ed’s view is
that Bill S-29 deals only with exploration,
drilling and producing matters and there-
fore does not need to deal with the sur-
face use of land. However, there does not
appear to be any other territorial legisla-
tion covering the subject and therefore
Bill S-29 appears to be the appropriate
place for such measures. I would mention
that at the present the Canada Oil and
Gas Drilling and Production Regulations
include a provision respecting restoration
of the surface in section 16. It is doubtful
whether there is any legislative authority
for this regulation and Bill 'S-29 does not
seem to cover it.

I might say that I had the impression that
the report of the committee had been adopted
and that the bill had been passed by the
Senate, and when I entered the chamber last
evening and discovered that the motion for
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the adoption of the committee’s report was
still before the house I thought it would be
appropriate to raise this matter then, rather
than have it raised elsewhere. I have spoken
to two officers of the department, and they
are aware of the situation, and I think that
the committee would probably gets its work
done most expeditiously if it were to call on
them.

The Chairman: And I have talked with the
departmental officers, Mr. Hunt and Mr.
Woodward also, and I would ask them to
come forward at this time.

I think it is clear from what Senator
Prowse has said that the question is whether
there should be provision for the protection
of the surface area or the environment.
Where there are drilling operations there is a
disruption of the top layer of soil, and the
question is how to regulate that and make
sure that somebody is responsible for the res-
toration or the protection of the environment.

I am going to ask these gentlemen in a
moment to give their views, but it seems to
me, if I might just analyze the problem, that
there are two questions facing us. The first
one, and the one that we are concerned with
in this bill, is the protection of the environ-
ment in the area where the drilling, gas oper-
ations, processing, and matters of that kind
are being carried on. There is also a much
larger area, which might be the whole ter-
ritorial area, where there are many opera-
tions of various kinds going on—mining oper-
ations—quite apart from those with which we
are concerned here. For the moment I think
we shall have to confine ourselves to the
scope of the bill, and since the bill deals with
drilling, production, transporting, and proces-
sing then our consideration of the environ-
ment and its protection should be in relation
to the area in which these functions are being
carried on, and where that kind of distur-
bance might take place. If this regulatory
power is going to be concerned with the larger
area, then it has no place in this bill. I
rather think that its place would be in the
Territorial Lands Act, which is a statute of
general application, and one that applies to
the whole territory.

As Senator Prowse mentioned there are,
for instance, drilling and production regula-
tions passed by order in council under the
Territorial Lands Act, of which section 16, to
which he referred, is pretty clear. The only
question that cany be raised is one as to
whether there is any authority under the Ter-

ritorial Lands Act for regulations of that
kind. I am sure that we are not going to
enlarge the scope of the work that faces us
here by conducting an inquiry into the Ter-
ritorial Lands Act, but there is a regulation,
and I shall read it in order to show you how
far it goes.:

These regulations were passed in June of
1961, and they are entitled ‘“Canada Oil and
Gas Drilling and Production Regulations”.
They are passed under the authority of the
Territorial Lands Act. The caption of section
16 is: “Restauration of Surface” and the regu-
lation reads:

The licencee, permittee or lessee shall,
as soon as whether or ground conditions
permit, upon the final abandonment and
completion of the plugging of any well or
structure test hole, clear the area around
the location of all refuse material, burn
waste oil, drain and fill all excavations,
remove concrete bases, machinery and
materials other than the marker provided
for in subsection (5) of section 15 and
level the surface to leave the site as near-
ly as possible in the condition encoun-
tered when operations were commenced.

In the language of section 16 there is ample
scope to enforce protection of the environ-
ment in the area in which these operations
are being carried on. The only suggestion
made is that there does not seem to be any
authority for that regulation. I am wondering
whether we are concerned with more than
the fact that there is a regulation dealing
with this and that it should be part of the
terms of any licence or permit that may be
granted or lease made to anybody who goes
in to work there.

Senator Haig: You are suggesting that
under these regulations the licencee or owner
has to go in and clean up the site?

The Chairman: That is right.
Senator Haig: When the order permits?
The Chairman: That is right.

Senator Haig: Why do you need permis-
sion?

The Chairman: That is a question I will ask
the witnesses in a moment.

The other question is whether there is
enough in the bill as we now have it to ena-
ble regulations to pass providing for restora-
tion of the surface and protection of the envi-
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ronment. Looking at the regulations in section

12, we have first of all the general regulation:
The Governor in Council may make regu-
lations respecting the exploration and
drilling for and the production and con-
servation, processing and transportation
of oil and gas.

There is the general authority under the title
“Production and Conservation”. We go on
with this language for a couple of pages.
After saying:
without restricting the generality of the
foregoing.

there follows a whole enumeration of regula-
tions that may be made. The major one is in
the most general terms, looking +to
conservation.

I therefore suggest that in passing regula-
tions the Governor in Council is not limited
to the particular enumerations appearing on,
for instance, pages 7 and 8 respecting the
different things that might be done by regula-
tion. The regulations are not limited to these
specific things. There is also the general
power to make regulations respecting
exploration, drilling, production and so on. I
suggest that under that heading restoration of
the surface in protecting the environment
would be one of the things that could be
regulated within the general scope.

There is one other thing I will mention now
and then leave it, after which it will be open
for discussion. In section 13, under the head-
ing “Waste”, in section (2) it says:

In this Act “waste”, in addition to its

ordinary meaning, means waste as

understood in the oil and gas industry

and in particular, but without limiting

the generality of the foregoing, includes
and then we have the enumerations. One of
the specific authorities for regulations con-
cerning powers for conservation and powers
for the prevention of waste within the mean-
ing of this act is to be found in paragraph (1)
on page 8. The word “waste” when used there
is not only waste in the sense that it has or is
understood in the oil and gas industry, but is
waste as a generic term in its ordinary mean-
ing. I therefore had a look at the Shorter
Oxford English Dictionary, in which there are
columns of definitions of waste.

For instance, one paragraph dealing with
waste describes it as:

Waste matter, refuse. Refuse matter; the
useless by-products of any industrial

process; material or manufactured arti-
cles so damaged as to be wuseless or
unsaleable.

In another paragraph it means:
To destroy, injure, damage (property); to
cause to deteriorate in value. To consume,
use up, wear away, exhaust by gradual
loss; to consume or destroy.

The broadest sense of “waste” is covered by
the authority to make these regulations as
well as waste as understood in the oil and gas
industry.

Senator Prowse: May I just point out that
the basis of the concern expressed by Dr.
Thompson would I assume from my own
reading of the act, be that while you may be
correct in your general discussion of “waste”,
where ‘“waste” appears in this act it seems to
support a legal argument to the effect the
word “waste” as far as the oil and gas are
concerned is in the underground reservoir,
and I think...

The Chairman: I do not know how you
can draw that conclusion.

Senator Prowse: Without burdening the
committee with a long discussion, I would
only say that I am not alone in drawing this
conclusion. All I can do is to say that Dr.
Thompson apparently came to the same con-
clusion, and I respect his special knowledge
in this field.

The Chairman: But the voting on that
matter is 50-50 is it not? It is one for and
one against. Mr. Lewis, whom we know and
who has appeared before us, does not hold
the same view as Dr. Thompson.

Senator Prowse: We are getting his opinion
second hand. There is a split opinion. When
there is a split opinion between two men who
are the co-authors of what is considered to be
the definitive book on the subject, it would
seem to me that if it is felt this is the bill in
which this should be dealt with, then we
would provide much more useful legislation if
we specifically spell it out in another simple
phrase, giving the Governor in Council clear
authority without having to deduce the au-
thority from a lot of other things, including
the dictionary.

The Chairman: But he has the most general
authority in the opening words of section 12.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): I wonder
whether it might be helpful to Senator
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Prowse, in view of the discussion now taking
place, to refer to paragraph (p)—“p” as in
SPatrick! ...

The Chairman: A happy choice this week.

Senator Connolly (Ottawa West): Certainly
this week. That might come fairly close to
what is in the Canada Land Act.

The Chairman: Paragraph (p) reads:

Prescribing minimum acceptable stand-
ards for the construction, alteration or
use of any works, fittings, machinery,
plant and appliances used for the devel-
opment, production, transmission, distri-
bution, measurement, storage or handling
of any oil or gas;

Senator Prowse: I think that could proba-
bly be argued. I do not want to waste the
time of the committee, because I think we
can take any one of these things and, by
giving it an extended meaning, come to the
conclusion that perhaps it would be covered.
All I am suggesting is that if it is felt desira-
ble to have this power there we should spell
it out while we have the bill in front of us.

The Chairman: I wonder if you would let
us have your view on the opening authority
in section 12 to pass regulations. That opening
authority is:

The Governor in Council may make regu-
lations respecting the exploration and
drilling for and the production.

In connection with the drilling, there is likely
to be some damage to surfaces in the area of
the drilling and in the movement of supplies
in the area. Under the general authority to
make regulations respecting exploration and
drilling, would you agree that it would be
within the limits of that language to prescribe
the conditions in which the area may be used
and what protections must be established,
and what restoration must be carried out by
those getting the authority to drill?

Senator Prowse: Having read it over, I
would say that it would be quite possible to
give a sound opinion backed by authorities, if
you